Functional impact of the protective Idd3 allele on regulatory T cells and protection from type-1 diabetes

by

Albanese, Alexandre

Department of Microbiology and Immunology McGill University, Montreal August 2006

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the Masters of Science.

© Alexandre Albanese, 2006



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-32811-8 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-32811-8

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Acknowledgements

First I would like to thank my supervisor Ciro Piccirillo for a chance to work in his laboratory. As one of his first students, a lot of time and energy was spent setting up new equipment and establishing protocols for future students. I am grateful for his endless support, guidance, patience and manuscript reviews which were invaluable for the completion of my graduate studies. I would also like to thank Ciro Piccirillo for allowing me to work on such an enthralling project which was a constant source of motivation during months of hard work.

I would also like to acknowledge Christopher Benoist for kindly providing us with the BDC2.5 mice. Many thanks to the Sylvie Fournier lab for providing us with hybridomas, protocols and frequent technical assistance (especially Marcel Brisebois and Dominique Martel). I would also like to express gratitude to the MUHC and MGSF for their financial support.

I would also like to thank Valerie Hay for helping me troubleshoot several "unexplainable" problems throughout my Masters project and for reviewing my thesis. Thank you Vicky Scouroudis for helping me countless hours with experiments, Katerina Iourtchenko and Mike Tritt for adoptively transferring my cells into mice with your skilled hands and Jessica St-Pierre for revising my literature review with a fine tooth comb. I would also like to thank Eva d'Hennezel and Michal Pyzik for your help and support. Finally, I would like to thank all of the aforementioned members of the lab for their kindness and friendship without which my sanity would have been compromised!

Table of Contents

-

Acknowledgements 2
Table of Contents
Abstract
Résumé
Abbreviations
Introduction and Literature Review
I – Autoimmune type-1 Diabetes and the NOD mouse
A) Type-1 Diabetes Characteristics
B) Pathogenesis of T1D9
C) Defects in Central Tolerance
D) Defects in Peripheral Tolerance15
II - Naturally occurring regulatory T cells
A) Characteristics and Phenotype
B) Thymic development of T _{REG} cells
C) T _{REG} cell homeostasis and IL-2
D) T _{REG} cells and costimulation
III – The role of T_{REG} cells in Diabetes
A) Role of T_{REG} cells in diabetes suppression
B) Role of IL-2 in diabetes protection
C) The NOD.B6 <i>Idd3</i> congenic mouse
Rationale and Objectives
Material and Methods 38
Results
Discussion and Future Directions
Figures and Tables 65
References
Appendix

Abstract

NOD.B6 Idd3 congenic mice, whose Idd3 locus originates from the autoimmune resistant C57BL/6 mouse, demonstrate a drastic reduction in diabetes onset. In this study we demonstrate that NOD.B6 Idd3 mice show halted disease progression and also show reduced levels of T_{H1} cells in their peripheral immune system. In vitro, CD4⁺ CD25⁻ effector T (T_{EFF}) cells from congenic mice display increased proliferation and IL-2 production compared to wild type NOD mice. However, unfractionated NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺ T cells maintain a higher T_{REG}:T_{EFF} ratio and proliferate less than their NOD counterparts, suggesting increased immunoregulation. In vivo, the Idd3 locus does not appear to reduce the number of islet-reactive cells or increase the systemic frequency of T_{REG} cells in the immune system of pre-diabetic mice. Instead, reduced infiltration of T_{EFF} cells in the pancreas of NOD.B6 Idd3 mice suggests increased suppression of autoimmune cells at the site of inflammation in vivo. Consistent with this hypothesis, tolerance mechanisms in the NOD.B6 Idd3 mouse are much better at suppressing the proliferation of islet-reactive T_{EFF} cells in the pLN. Furthermore, using a novel strain of BDC.Idd3 mice, which contain islet-reactive TCR transgenic CD4⁺ T cells and which are homozygous for the B6-derived Idd3 allele, we demonstrate that T_{EFF} cells containing the protective *Idd3* allele do not possess reduced diabetogenic potential in vivo. Using an adoptive transfer model for type-1 diabetes, we demonstrate that CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} containing the protective Idd3 allele are intrinsically better suppressors than T_{REG} cells of NOD genotype. Collectively, our data show that the protective Idd3 allele favours immunoregulation in the pancreatic lesion by enhancing T_{REG} cell function. Although the precise mechanism of this protection remains unknown, these findings may ultimately help develop therapeutic strategies to reduce or prevent the autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β islet cells in type-1 diabetes patients.

Résumé

Les souris congéniques NOD.B6 Idd3, dont le locus Idd3 provient de la lignée C57BL/6 résistante à l'auto-immunité, présentent une faible incidence de diabète. Dans cette étude, nous montrons que dans les souris NOD.B6 Idd3 la progression de la pathologie est arrêtée et que le nombre de cellules T_{H1} dans le système immunitaire périphérique y est réduit. In vitro, les cellules T effectrices CD4⁺CD25⁻ (T_{EFF}) issues de ces souris congéniques présentent une plus grandes capacités de prolifération et de production d'IL-2 que des souris NOD normales. Cependant, les cellules T CD4⁺ NOD.B6 *Idd3* conservent une proportion de T_{REG} plus élevée et prolifèrent moins que leur équivalent NOD, suggérant un niveau plus élevé d'immuno-régulation. In vivo, le locus Idd3 ne semble ni réduire le nombre de cellules auto-réactives, ni augmenter la fréquence des cellules T_{REG} dans le système immunitaire des souris pré-diabétiques. Au contraire, la diminution de l'infiltration des cellules T_{EFF} dans le pancréas des souris NOD.B6 Idd3 suggère une meilleure suppression des cellules auto-immunes au site d'inflammation in vivo. En accord avec cette hypothèse, les mécanismes de tolérance dans la souris NOD.B6 *Idd3* permettent une plus forte suppression de la prolifération des cellules T_{EFF} diabétogènes dans les ganglions lymphatiques pancréatiques. De plus, grâce a l'utilisation d'une nouvelle lignée de souris BDC.Idd3, dont les cellules T CD4⁺ expriment un TCR transgénique dirigé contre les îlots de Langherans, et sont homozygotes pour l'allèle Idd3 provenant de la lignée C57BL/6, nous démontrons que le locus Idd3 n'inhibe pas le potentiel diabétogène des cellules T_{EFF} in vivo. Grâce à un modèle de transfert adoptif du diabète de type 1, nous montrons que les cellules T_{REG} CD4⁺CD25⁺ portant l'allèle Idd3 protecteur sont intrinsèquement meilleurs suppresseurs que les cellules T_{REG} issues de souris NOD. Ainsi, nos données démontrent que l'allèle protecteur Idd3 favorise l'immuno-régulation au sein des lésions pancréatiques par le biais d'une amélioration fonctionnelle des cellules T_{REG}.

Abbreviations

- AICD: activation-induced cell death
- AIRE: autoimmune regulator gene
- APC: antigen presenting cell (dendritic cells, macrophages, B-cells, etc.)

BrdU: 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine

CFSE: carboxyfluorescin diacetate succinimidyl ester

CTLA-4: cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated antigen-4

CY: cyclophosphamide

FACS: fluorescent-activated cell sorting

FasL: Fas ligand

Fgf-2: fibroblast growth factor

Foxp3: forkhead box protein 3

Foxp3^{gfp} mice: express Foxp3-GFP fusion protein

GAD: glutamic acid dcarboxylase

GFP: green fluorescent protein

GITR: glucocorticoid-induced TNFR family related gene

ICOS: inducible costimulator

Idd: insulin-dependent diabetes (loci)

IFN- γ : interferon γ

IGRP: islet specific glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic-subunit-related protein

IL-x: interleukin-x

IL-2R: interleukin-2 receptor

iNOS: inducible nitric oxide synthatse

IPEX: immunodysregulation polyendrocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked

syndrome

LN: peripheral lymph nodes (always excludes the pancreatic lymph nodes)

MHC: major histocompatibility complex

NK: natural killer

NO: nitric oxide

NOD: non-obese diabetic (mouse)

pLN: pancreatic lymph node

RT-PCR: reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

T1D: type-1 diabetes

TCR: T cell receptor

 T_{EFF} : CD4⁺Foxp3⁻ non-regulatory T cells

TGF- β : tranforming growth factor β

T_{H1}: CD4⁺ T helper-1 cells

 T_{H2} : CD4⁺ T helper-2 cells

TNF- α : tumor necrosis factor α

 T_{REG} : CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cell

~

Introduction and Literature Review

I – Autoimmune type-1 Diabetes and the NOD mouse

A) Type-1 Diabetes Characteristics

Autoimmune type-1 diabetes (T1D) is a disease resulting from the targeted destruction of insulin-producing β islet cells in the pancreas by the immune system (1, 2). Clinical symptoms become apparent when patients can no longer produce sufficient levels of insulin and blood glucose levels rise above physiological levels leading to hyperglycaemia. If insulin levels are not therapeutically maintained by various methods such as daily injections, prolonged hyperglycaemia can lead to several complications including blindness, kidney failure and heart disease (1). Originally called juvenile diabetes, T1D is usually diagnosed before the age of 30, mostly in children and teenagers, and is thought to constitute at least 10% of all Canadian diabetics (2). The remaining diabetics are mostly afflicted with type-2 diabetes which is caused by either the reduced sensitivity to insulin or its reduced production and has a strong correlation with obesity and aging (1). T1D can be subdivided into two categories: autoimmune diabetes (type-1A) which occurs when the patient's immune system is responsible for the destruction of the β islet cells and idiopathic diabetes (type-1B) which is not immune-related and whose etiology is currently unknown (3). Since type-1B diabetes only represents a small fraction of all T1D cases and its existence remains controversial, the remainder of this text will focus solely on type 1A (4). A recent study looking at the worldwide incidence of T1D in young children revealed that disease frequency varies according to geographical location, race and ethnic background (5). Generally, T1D is more common in developed countries relative to underdeveloped countries with Finland, Sweden and Canada showing the highest incidence rates, at more than 25 cases per 100,000 people (5). Although genetic susceptibility appears to be a prerequisite for T1D (Table 1), the

concordance rate in monozygotic twins is only 30-50% (6). This suggests an important role for environmental factors on T1D onset such as pathogen infections and diet (7-9). The current model of T1D proposes that autoimmunity is triggered by an environmental factor in genetically susceptible individuals (Fig. 1).

Animal models have been an important tool for understanding the mechanism of autoimmune diabetes pathogenesis and for identifying genes involved in disease susceptibility. The non-obese diabetic (NOD) mouse, developed by Makino and colleagues in 1980, is the most frequently studied animal model for T1D (10, 11). These mice, when raised under conventional pathogen-free conditions, are known to develop spontaneous diabetes by 15-20 weeks of age in 70-80% of females and 20-30% of males (12). In recent years, it was found that type-1 diabetes patients and NOD mice share several immunogenetic and immunopathophysiological features (Table 2), thereby validating this animal model (10). A striking similarity for both mice and patients is the importance of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II region as a genetic determinant for T1D. Additionally, multiple similarities between NOD and human disease progression suggest complex polygenetic dysregulations in both central and peripheral tolerance, leading to uncontrolled T cell survival, activation and function (10, 13). Ultimately, defective immunoregulation within the peripheral immune system will lead to the T cell-driven infiltration of the pancreas and destruction of β islet cells.

B) Pathogenesis of T1D

Since the pancreas and pancreatic draining lymph nodes (pLNs) are not readily accessible in humans, the NOD mouse has helped a great deal in elucidating disease progression. In fact, the T cell-mediated destruction of β islet cells in NOD mice is extremely synchronous with two important checkpoints: peri-insulitis and overt diabetes. At birth, all NOD mice show minimal immune

cell infiltration in the pancreas, nonetheless by 3 to 4 weeks of age, mononuclear immune cells suddenly begin surrounding the β islet cells: this constitutes checkpoint 1. Since the immune cells accumulate around the edges of the pancreatic islets without infiltrating them, this phenomenon is referred to as periinsulitis. The infiltrate consists mostly of CD4⁺ T cells, although cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells, natural killer (NK) cells and various antigen presenting cells (APCs) such as B-cells, macrophage and dendritic cells are also present (11, 14). Although multiple cell types are present in the pancreatic lesion, disease is dependent on CD4⁺ T cells which recognize peptides presented by professional APCs via MHC class II. Diabetes progression is also dependent on CD8⁺ T cells which recognize peptides displayed by MHC class I, expressed on all cells (15, 16). At the onset of peri-insulitis, the immune response is T_{H2} dominated and non-destructive to islet cells. However, by 10 weeks of age, the immune response has already shifted towards a pro-inflammatory T_{H1} response and immune cells infiltrate the pancreatic islet, causing severe insulitis (17). Despite the aggressive insulitis, some β islet cells still persist in the pancreas and checkpoint 2, or overt diabetes, only occurs when over 90% of these insulin-producing cells are destroyed and physiological blood glucose levels cannot be maintained.

In NOD mice, raised under pathogen-free conditions and on a specific diet, it is thought that the delay between birth and peri-insulitis simply constitutes the time required for self-reactive CD4⁺ T cell activation and recruitment from the peripheral immune system into the pancreas (17). Interestingly, a wave of β -cell death has been observed in young 14-17 day old rodents and may be the initial trigger for diabetes progression (18-20). This phenomenon, which kills roughly one third of all β cells, is thought to be a consequence of pancreatic tissue remodelling and may lead to the uptake of antigen from the necrotic β cells by dendritic cells and its subsequent presentation to self-reactive CD4⁺ T cells in the pLNs. This model is supported by a study showing that removal of the pLNs in 3 week old but not 10 week old NOD mice leads to diabetes resistance (21). This suggests that initiation of the autoimmune response occurs in the pLNs of 3-4

week old NOD mice and removal of the pLNs probably prevents the dendritic cell/ T cell encounter. This hypothesis is supported by another study, which determined that the CD86 co-stimulatory molecule, expressed predominantly on dendritic cells, is important for the activation of self-reactive T cells (22). The interaction between CD86 and CD28, which is expressed on T cells, was shown to be important in the early activation and proliferation of islet-reactive CD4⁺ T cells, but not for their effector function which causes destruction of the pancreatic tissue. Taken together, these studies suggest that three factors are important for initiation of T1D in NOD mice: a wave of β cell death, the expression of CD86 on dendritic cells and the activation of CD4⁺ T cells in the pLNs.

Based on various studies, the current model of autoimmune β cell destruction (23) proposes that macrophages and dendritic cells are the first immune cells present in the islets, where they uptake β cell auto-antigens and produce IL-12. The antigen and IL-12 will activate CD4⁺ T cells which will, in turn, produce IL-2 and proliferate. The exact role of CD8⁺ T cells is still not clearly understood, one model proposes that the CD4⁺ T cell-derived IL-2 will activate the CD8⁺ T cells and induce their differentiation into cytotoxic T cells. In this model, the migration of CD4⁺ T cells into the pancreatic islets is followed immediately by the cytotoxic $CD8^+$ T cells (24). The $CD8^+$ T cells, which recognize antigen displayed by β cells via MHC class I, will target these cells for apoptosis, thus promoting a more aggressive CD4⁺ T cell response in the later stages of insulitis (25). A second model suggests that CD8⁺ T cell-mediated killing of β cells is the initiator of diabetes and leads to antigen uptake by APCs and subsequent activation of self-reactive CD4⁺ T cells (23). Although, the precise role of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subsets in diabetes progression remain controversial, it is accepted that both subsets contribute synergistically to the destruction of β cells. Islet-reactive cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells will induce apoptosis in β cells either by the perforin/granzyme pathway or by expression of Fas ligand (FasL) which binds to its receptor, Fas, on β cells (12, 26). Although activated CD4⁺ T cells also upregulate FasL, they produce several pro-inflammatory

cytokines such as interferon (IFN)- γ , tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-1 and IL-6 which have all been shown to induce β cell death (12, 26). In NOD mice, high levels of these cytokines correlate with cell destruction in Langerhans islets (27), however the majority of β cell death was shown to be caused by the synergistic effect of both IFN- γ and TNF- α (28). The TNF- α , IFN- γ and IL-1 cytokines can also cause destruction of islet cells indirectly by increasing the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in macrophages or endogenously in β -cells (26). This enzyme is responsible for production of nitric oxide free radicals, which can damage genomic DNA and lead to β cell apoptosis (29). *In vivo*, increased iNOS concentrations in the pancreatic islets correlate with decreasing insulin levels and eventual diabetes onset (30).

Given these findings, it is widely accepted that T_{H1} cells which produce TNF- α and IFN- γ cytokines are involved in disease progression. Inversely, T_{H2} cells, which produce IL-4 and IL-10 help regulate the $T_{\rm H1}$ response and can control the progression from peri-insulitis to destructive insulitis (16). However this appears to be a simplified view since experimental data is not so clear cut (Table 3). The APC-derived IL-12 is thought to be important in the activation of CD4^+ T cells and their differentiation into T_{H1} cells. Therefore, it is not surprising that intravenous (i.v.) administration of IL-12 accelerates diabetes progression (31). Unexpectedly however, IL-12-deficient and wild-type NOD mice were found to develop diabetes at similar frequency (32). Other studies have shown that administration of an anti- IFN-y neutralizing antibody into mice prevents diabetes, whereas IFN- γ knockout NOD mice only show delayed disease (33, 34). Data regarding TNF- α also suggest a complex link between this cytokine and diabetes since administration of anti-TNF- α into 2 week old NOD mice is protective, whereas antibody treatment of 4 week old mice simply delays diabetes (35). Surprisingly, transgenic NOD mice which constitutively express TNF- α in their islets are also protected (36). Fortunately, both studies were reconciled when TNF- α was shown to have a dual role in diabetes progression (37). In early stages, TNF- α is important for disease progression and in late stages, it can abrogate the immune response and reduce the number and function of self-reactive T cells in the islets. The precise role of T_{H2} cytokines is also unclear since administration of IL-4 or IL-10 prevents diabetes (38, 39) nevertheless IL-4-deficient or IL-10deficient NOD mice do not show accelerated onset (40, 41). Furthermore, whereas transgenic expression of IL-4 in the β cells prevents T1D, the transgenic expression of IL-10 in these cells accelerates disease (42, 43). Thus, in general, favouring T_{H2} responses by cytokine injection or by blocking T_{H1} cytokines can prevent T1D. However, knockout studies have made apparent that the multiple cytokines involved in an autoimmune response have overlapping functions (12).

C) Defects in Central Tolerance

In NOD mice, some of the antigens recognized by self reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells include insulin, glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), insulinomaassociated protein 2 and heat shock protein 60 (12, 44). Therefore, given the multitude of self reactive T cells in the NOD mouse's immune system, a dysregulation in central tolerance (during thymic selection) is likely to play a key role in disease susceptibility. In support of this hypothesis, the intra-thymic grafting of syngeneic or allogeneic islets prevent diabetes onset in NOD mice (45-48). In fact, three major defects in thymocyte selection have been reported to date by various independent groups. First, a global defect in apoptosis during the negative selection of semi-mature thymocytes was observed (49). Second, data from the protein crystal structure of the NOD MHC class II molecule (I-A^{g7}), the major genetic determinant of T1D, revealed that its structure may be intrinsically unstable, making it a poor peptide binder and thus hindering self-peptidemediated negative selection (50, 51). Third, studies using the insulin 2 (ins2) knockout NOD mice, have revealed that abrogating insulin expression in the thymus greatly exacerbates disease (52, 53). Specifically, abrogating expression of the Ins2 gene only affected thymic levels of insulin, not the pancreatic expression of the Ins1 gene and this caused earlier onset of disease. This finding indirectly supports the observed defect in the NOD thymus regarding expression of the Autoimmune Regulator (AIRE) gene, which is responsible for the thymic expression of numerous self-proteins and is important for the thymic deletion of numerous self-reactive T cells(54). Consistent with these findings, T1D patients show reduced expression of insulin mRNA in the thymus, suggesting that improper deletion of insulin-reactive T cells may be an important determinant for disease susceptibility (55). Therefore, multiple defects in the thymic selection process lead to increased numbers of islet-reactive T cells in the periphery favouring autoimmunity (Fig. 2).

Since islet-reactive cells are central in the pathogenesis in T1D, several groups have successfully isolated and cloned T cells from inflamed islets and spleens of NOD mice. Some of these T cell clones were used to produce T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic mice which recognize pancreas-derived antigens. The most frequently used strains of transgenic NOD mice are the 8.3 and BDC2.5 mice which possess islet-reactive $CD8^+$ and $CD4^+$ T cells, respectively. The 8.3 transgenic CD8⁺ T cells were found to recognize islet-specific specific glucose-6phosphatase catalytic subunit-related protein (IGRP), which localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum and has no known function (12, 56). The specificity of BDC2.5 transgenic CD4⁺ T cells, on the other hand, is still unknown, however a recent report suggests a GAD65-derived peptide may in fact be the targeted antigen (57). Both transgenic mice have proven to be a valuable tool for elucidating the various mechanisms involved in the progression to T1D, since they represent a monoclonal population of diabetogenic T cells which arise normally, albeit at small frequencies, in the wild-type NOD mouse. After onset of insulitis, NOD mice show a high percentage of CD8⁺ T cells with the 8.3 transgenic TCR specificity in the peripheral immune system (58). Similarly, 0.1-0.2% of all mature CD4⁺ T cells in the NOD mouse show the same specificity as the BDC2.5 transgenic CD4⁺ T cells (59).

D) Defects in Peripheral Tolerance

Although self-reactive cells are present in T1D patients and NOD mice, they can also be found in all individuals and autoimmune-resistant mouse strains (e.g. BALB/c, C57BL/6 and C57BL/10). Under normal circumstances, these autoreactive cells which escape negative selection in the thymus are kept under control by the various mechanisms of peripheral tolerance. Therefore, since NOD mice and autoimmune patients are capable of mounting a significant immune response to self-antigens this suggests a dysregulation in peripheral tolerance mechanisms (Fig 2). One mechanism of T cell regulation in the periphery is T cell co-stimulation. Activation of naïve T cells requires two separate signals to induce proliferation: antigen recognition via the TCR and recognition of co-stimulatory molecules CD80 or CD86 expressed on APCs by CD28 (16). If a T cell receives no co-stimulation after antigen recognition, it will be rendered unresponsive or anergic to subsequent TCR stimulation or it can undergo apoptosis (16). The NOD mouse possesses several defects in T cell co-stimulation, which are thought to be responsible for the initiation and progression of the autoimmune response (12). A well studied example is the CTLA-4 molecule, which is expressed on activated T cells and also binds CD80 and CD86. Unlike CD28, CTLA-4 is a down-regulator of the T cell response, inhibiting cell cycle progression, proliferation and IL-2 production (60). NOD mice show reduced surface expression of CTLA-4 on T cells compared to other autoimmune resistant strains of mice, which suggests that activated NOD T cells may be more resistant to this mechanism of peripheral tolerance (61). This is further supported by studies in which the administration of anti-CTLA-4 antibody before the onset of insulitis exacerbated disease (62, 63). These studies demonstrate that CTLA-4 signalling in pancreas-infiltrating T cells can control progression to overt diabetes, favouring the delay between checkpoints 1 and 2.

In addition, dendritic cells, which are the main initiators of the immune response, can express the CD80/CD86 co-stimulatory molecules and are therefore

....

important mediators of peripheral tolerance. One study showed that transfer of dendritic cells derived from the pLN, but not any other LN, protected recipient NOD mice from diabetes (64). This suggests a dysfunction in dendritic cell function since proper peripheral tolerance requires the addition of extra cells. Also, dendritic cells from both human diabetics and NOD mice show reduced growth in response to various growth factors compared to non-diabetic controls, suggesting a dysregulation in their development (65, 66). In NOD mice, developing dendritic cells show reduced proliferation and increased cell death *in vitro* (67). Once mature they show reduced expression of MHC class II and CD80/CD86 molecules compared to other strains of mice (68). Since CD4⁺ T cell production of IFN- γ does not require costimulation whereas IL-4 does, this could account for, at least partially, the NOD mouse's predisposition for an islet-destructiveT_{H1} response (69, 70).

Another mechanism of peripheral tolerance is activation-induced cell death (AICD), which is similar to negative selection of T cells in the thymus. When T cells proliferate in response to TCR activation and costimulation, their sensitivity to apoptosis is greatly increased compared to naïve T cells (71, 72). AICD occurs when the TCR of a proliferating T cell is re-engaged causing apoptosis. AICD is important for controlling self-reactive T cells since these cells will bind abundant antigen, undergo apoptosis and will not cause damage to the host (73). Several studies have shown that both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the NOD mouse are more resistant to AICD when compared to C57BL/6 *in vitro* and *in vivo* (74-76). These studies imply that the self-reactive T cells present in NOD mice are capable of escaping AICD and initiating an autoimmune response.

Regulatory T (T_{REG}) cells are also important mediators of peripheral tolerance and crucial in the prevention of autoimmunity. Multiple studies have linked defects in this population with T1D in mice and humans. Early studies focusing on immunoregulation employed a model of diabetes transfer where splenocytes originating from diabetic NOD mice were injected into irradiated

NOD recipients, causing diabetes within 3 weeks (77). The transfer of diabetic splenocytes into non-irradiated 6 week old NOD recipients was unable to induce diabetes, suggesting efficient immunoregulation in pre-diabetic mice. The improper T_{REG} cell function in NOD mice was first shown when the co-transfer of diabetic splenocytes with splenocytes from young non-diabetic NOD mice could delay diabetes onset in irradiated recipients (78-80). Depletion experiments revealed that CD4⁺ T cells were responsible for the immunoregulatory properties of the non-diabetic splenocytes. Furthermore, thymocytes were also shown to delay disease transferred by splenocytes of diabetic donors, and thymectomy of non-diabetic females abrogated the immunosuppressive properties of their splenocytes, suggesting that a population of CD4⁺ T cells originating from the thymus are capable of regulating diabetes (78). Additional thymectomy experiments in NOD mice revealed that removal of the thymus in 3 week old mice but not 6-7 week old mice was capable of accelerating diabetes onset in NOD females (81). These findings thus suggest that a functional thymus-derived $CD4^+$ T_{REG} population is present in young NOD mice and is somehow defective in diabetic mice.

Additional evidence for the importance of T_{REG} cell function comes from the cyclophosphamide (CY) treatment of NOD mice which accelerates diabetes onset (82). It was demonstrated that CY accelerates the progression from periinsulitis to diabetes and that the effect of this treatment affected immune cells rather than the β cells in the pancreas (82, 83). Consistent with these findings, the transfer of splenocytes from nondiabetic NOD donors into CY-treated mice prevented diabetes, suggesting that the treatment was affecting immunoregulatory mechanisms (82). Although the exact effects of CY on the immune system remain unknown, multiple studies have demonstrated increased IFN- γ production subsequent to treatment, which may reflect the reduced suppression of selfreactive T cells differentiating into T_{H1} (84, 85). The acceleration of diabetes in CY-treated NOD mice can also be prevented by administration of anti-CD3 antibody (86). Surprisingly, anti-CD3 therapy was also capable of reversing established diabetes in NOD mice, reversing insulitis to peri-insulitis for at least 4 months post-treatment (86, 87). It was determined that anti-CD3 administration did not restore self-tolerance by depleting diabetogenic T cells or favouring a T_{H2} response. Instead, it appears that the antibody increases the frequency of specific T cell subsets with suppressive properties in the pLNs (88). This increased frequency is not due to expansion of endogenous T_{REG} cells but rather the induction of suppressive T cells from nonsuppressive precursors (88). Thus, taken together these various models of diabetes enhancement or protection clearly highlight the need for additional suppressive T_{REG} cells in NOD mice to compensate for defective immunoregulation.

II - Naturally occurring regulatory T cells

A) Characteristics and Phenotype

In addition to T cells that mediate the immune response, classes of regulatory/suppressor T cells circulate in the periphery, controlling immunity and limiting the activation of T cells, B cells and certain cells of the innate immune system. A variety of T_{REG} cells can be induced in the peripheral immune system by various conditions such as continuous IL-10 exposure or antigen feeding which can give rise to T_{R1} and T_{H3} cells, respectively (89). However, the immune system also contains a population of naturally occurring CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells which originate from the thymus and represent roughly 10% of peripheral CD4⁺ T cells in mice. These cells are capable of suppressing the proliferation of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells *in vitro* in a dose dependent fashion (90, 91). Suppressor function was shown to necessitate the TCR activation of T_{REG} cells *in vitro*, however, once activated, suppression was independent of the target T cell's antigen specificity (92). In vitro, T_{REG} cell suppression is cell contact dependent and cytokine independent (90). Conversely, various *in vivo* models have suggested a role for

IL-10 and TGF- β , two immunosuppressive cytokines, in T_{REG} cell-mediated suppression (88, 93-95). Furthermore, T_{REG} cells can also directly inhibit B-cell responses or modulate dendritic cell activity, suggesting that multiple mechanisms underlie T_{REG} cell suppression *in vivo* (96, 97).

The existence of "suppressor T cells" was first hypothesized in 1972 by Gershon *et al.*, however it was only in 1995 that Sakaguchi *et al.* convincingly demonstrated their existence, renaming them "regulatory" T cells in the process (98, 99). It was observed that a small population of $CD4^+$ T cells expressed CD25 in normal non-immunized mice. Sakaguchi and colleagues noticed that transfer of $CD4^+$ T cells, when depleted of the $CD25^+$ subset, into immunodeficient mice induced various autoimmune diseases such as thyroiditis, gastritis, insulitis, sialoadenitis, adrenalitis, oophoritis, glomerulonephritis, and polyarthritis (99). The transfer of $CD4^+CD25^+$ T cells prevented autoimmunity in a dose dependent fashion by inhibiting the expansion of self-reactive $CD4^+CD25^-$ T cells. These findings clearly demonstrate that pathogenic T cells are present in the peripheral immune system of healthy mice and that they are kept in check by a population of suppressive cells.

These naturally occurring T_{REG} cells were identified by the expression of the CD25 cell surface marker which is also termed the α -chain of the high affinity heterotrimeric IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) (99). It should be noted that all T cells constitutively express the β (CD122) and common γ (CD132) chains, which form a low affinity IL-2 receptor that is incapable of binding ligand and, thus, incapable of initiating a signalling cascade (100). The CD25 molecule is expressed on activated non-regulatory T cells subsequent to activation and, prior to 1995, was considered exclusively as an activation marker for CD4⁺ T cells (100). Signalling through the fully assembled IL-2 receptor activates the STAT-5 transcription factor and leads to a positive feedback loop of CD25 expression, which assures the presence of the high affinity heterotrimeric IL-2 receptor (100). Although CD25 can be expressed by non-regulatory T cells, simply activating CD4⁺ or CD8^+ T cells to render them CD25^+ does not endow them with immunoregulatory properties either *in vitro* or *in vivo* (90, 101). These findings establish the $\text{CD4}^+\text{CD25}^+$ T_{REG} cells as a functionally and phenotypically distinct population of T cells. However, since CD25 expression is not exclusive to T_{REG} cells, this marker is only reliable within a naïve CD4 T cell population.

Since their discovery in 1995, numerous cell surface markers have been used to further distinguish T_{REG} cells such as GITR, CTLA-4, neuropilin-1, CCR4, CCR8, CD62L, LAG-3, CD103 or CD45RB^{low}(89). These various markers strongly suggest a heterogeneous population of regulatory T cell and, interestingly, when several subsets were compared, they displayed different suppressor properties (102). It was observed that specific autoimmune diseases, targeting different organs, could be induced when CD4⁺ T cells from NOD mice were depleted of various regulatory subsets and transferred into immunodeficient hosts. Adoptive transfer of CD25-depleted CD4⁺ T cells induced gastritis and mild diabetes whereas CD62L-depleted CD4⁺ T cells induced fulminant diabetes and CD45RB^{high} CD4⁺ T cells induced major colitis with wasting disease. Although these three regulatory populations show some overlap with each other, they clearly demonstrate their inhibition of distinct organ-specific autoimmune diseases.

No precise combination of surface markers was established as a "strict" definition for naturally occurring regulatory T cells until 2003, when several groups reported that expression of the Foxp3 transcription factor correlated with $CD4^+CD25^+$ regulatory T cells (103-106). Furthermore, transduction of $CD4^+CD25^-$ T_{EFF} cells with a Foxp3-expressing retrovirus converted these cells into suppressive regulatory T cells (104). Inversely, a mutation in the gene encoding Foxp3 was identified as the cause of a fatal autoimmune lymphoproliferative disease in *scurfy* mice and patients with IPEX (immune dysfunction/ polyendocrinopathy/ enteropathy/ X-linked) syndrome (107). It was originally reported that CD4⁺T cells in *scurfy* mice were hyperresponsive to TCR

stimulation and produced increased levels of cytokines both in vivo and in vitro (108). However, later studies determined that disease is due to a $CD4^+CD25^+$ regulatory T cell deficiency and not an intrinsic CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cell defect (103). Several studies have now shown that Foxp3 is required for the development and function of regulatory T cells, thus establishing CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ cells as the definition for naturally occurring T_{REG} cells. In 2005, Fontenot et al. generated mice expressing a Foxp3-GFP (green fluorescent protein) fusion protein, allowing the detection of this intra-nuclear marker using flow cytometry (109). This Foxp3^{gfp} mouse revealed a new population of suppressive CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ cells which did not express CD25 and whose frequency varied in each lymphoid organ. These CD4⁺CD25⁻Foxp3⁺ cells were also found to increase in aging mice, contributing to the characteristic hyporesponsiveness of CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells in very old mice (110). It was proposed that the CD4⁺CD25⁻Foxp3⁺cells are a reservoir of regulatory cells, since they can regain CD25 expression upon activation or homeostatic expansion (111). Therefore, Foxp3, unlike CD25, correlates perfectly with suppressive function and has become the most reliable marker for identifying T_{REG} cells in the murine immune system.

A population of T_{REG} cells has also been identified in human peripheral blood, which express CD25 and Foxp3, however, unlike mice, Foxp3 can be expressed by activated T_{EFF} cells (106). Thus, much like CD25, expression of Foxp3 can induced by activation of human CD4⁺ T cells, demonstrating a different regulation of Foxp3 expression (107). Nonetheless, transduction of human lymphocytes with a Foxp3-expressing retrovirus did render them suppressive albeit less than in the murine studies (112). Therefore, although differences are already apparent between murine and human T_{REG} cells, Foxp3 is currently the best marker for this T cell subset.

B) Thymic development of T_{REG} cells

Unlike inducible regulatory T cells, the naturally occurring T_{REG} cells develop in the thymus alongside $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells (113-115). An early study showed that CD25⁺ T cells only appear in the murine peripheral immune system at 3 days of age at low levels and progressively increase until they represent 10% of all CD4⁺ T cells by 3 weeks of age (115). Furthermore, thymectomy of day 3 neonatal BALB/c mice, before the appearance of the $CD25^+$ T cells, leads to various organ-specific autoimmune diseases (113, 115). Pathology can be prevented by the transfer of adult CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells into thymectomized mice, suggesting a delayed output of T_{REG} cells compared to T_{EFF} cells. A more recent study, using the Foxp3^{gfp} mouse, showed delayed Foxp3 induction in thymocytes of neonatal mice compared to the generation of T_{EFF} cells (116). Analysis of adult Foxp3^{gfp} mice revealed that the majority of T_{REG} cells reside in the thymic medulla (109). Interestingly, neonate mice were found to have an underdeveloped thymic medulla whose area tripled between day1 and day 4 after birth, suggesting that the appearance of T_{REG} cells may be limited by the delayed formation of their physiological niche in the thymus (116). When the thymus is fully matured, CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ cells are found mostly within the CD4 single-positive thymocyte compartment. Earlier stages of thymocyte maturation such as CD4⁺CD8⁺ and CD4⁻CD8⁻ cells, accounted for less than 10% of all Foxp3 expressing cells in the thymus, suggesting that Foxp3 expression is induced at the later stages of thymocyte development. The presence of Foxp3⁺ cells in the thymic medulla also supports this theory since this region typically harbours the most mature thymocyte population (109).

Analysis of Foxp3^{gfp} mice also suggests that T_{REG} cell development is not hard-wired into cells, instead, it requires TCR/MHC interactions in the thymus (109). Although T_{REG} cells are a polyclonal population, several studies have suggested that T_{REG} cells preferentially express TCRs which recognize selfantigens (117-119). The current view is that high affinity TCR/self-peptide

interactions direct the selection of T_{REG} thymocytes in a process distinct from positive selection and clonal deletion (118). However, efficient generation of T_{REG} cells requires another important signal: CD28 co-stimulation. The engagement of CD28 on developing CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes was shown to induce Foxp3 expression and thus initiate the T_{REG} cell development program (120). In fact, abrogation of the CD28 signalling pathway, by knocking out CD28 or both of its ligands (CD80 and CD86), drastically reduces thymic T_{REG} cell development in various strains of mice (109, 120). These findings also explain the strong presence of Foxp3⁺ cells in the thymic medulla since the expression of CD86 in the thymus is largely restricted to this region.

The CD28 co-stimulatory signal is known to promote IL-2 production in activated T cells by at least two distinct mechanisms. First, co-stimulation induces histone acetylation and chromatin remodelling of the IL-2 promoter region, rendering it highly accessible to DNA binding proteins and thus, transcription (121). Second, the half-life of IL-2 mRNA was shown to increase subsequent to CD28 signalling (122). Therefore, not surprisingly, CD28 signalling is responsible for the production of IL-2 in the thymus in quantities sufficient to support efficient T_{REG} cell development (120). However, CD28-mediated induction of Foxp3 was shown to be independent of IL-2, suggesting that this cytokine is favourable but not essential for T_{REG} development (120). Indeed, IL-2 knockout mice contain Foxp3⁺ cells in the thymus, albeit at reduced levels, supporting the IL-2 independent development of T_{REG} cells (123, 124). However, IL-2 belongs to the family of common γ -chain (CD132) cytokines which includes IL-4, 7, 9, 15 and 21, and at least one of these cytokines is essential for T_{REG} cell generation (124, 125). This was shown when γ -chain-deficient Foxp3^{gfp} mice demonstrated a complete absence of Foxp3 cells in the thymus (124). This suggests that other common γ -chain cytokines may compensate for an IL-2 deficit during T_{REG} cell development. Thus, to date, three signals have been identified as essential to induce Foxp3 expression and hence influence T_{REG} cell development in the thymic medulla: a high affinity TCR/MHC interaction, presumably with self-antigen, a CD28 co-stimulatory signals and a common γ -chain cytokinederived signal.

C) T_{REG} cell homeostasis and IL-2

Although IL-2 is not essential for T_{REG} cell development in the thymus, multiple studies have shown the necessity of this cytokine for the survival and proper function of T_{REG} cells in the peripheral immune system. Early in vitro studies described the T_{REG} cells as anergic since they do not proliferate in response to TCR activation regardless of the concentration of anti-CD3 or concanavalin A used (90). The addition of IL-2 to cell cultures did restore T_{REG} cell responsiveness to TCR signalling, where proliferation was comparable to T_{EFF} cells. Unlike activated T_{EFF} cells, T_{REG} cells are incapable of producing IL-2. The absence of IL-2, subsequent to T_{REG} cell activation is due to a lack of chromatin remodelling at the promoter region of the IL-2 gene, rendering it inaccessible to transcription factors (126). Also, several studies have shown that the Foxp3 transcription factor directly suppresses production of IL-2, IL-4 and IFN- γ following TCR-mediated stimulation (107). Thus, this inability to produce IL-2 entails the requirement for exogenous sources to support T_{REG} cell survival both in vivo and in vitro. The primary source for IL-2 in vivo is antigen-stimulated mature T cells and, recently, a small pool of activated T_{EFF} cells was identified in the peripheral immune system which are CD25^{low}Foxp3⁻ (109, 127). These cells probably represent a small pool of self-reactive T_{EFF} cells in the unmanipulated immune system, which remain non-pathogenic and are essential for T_{REG} cell homeostasis. Although controversial, another possible source for this cytokine, are dendritic cells which can produce IL-2 early after their activation (128).

The importance of IL-2 in immunological tolerance is clearly illustrated in $Il2^{-/-}$, $Il2ra^{-/-}$ and $Il2rb^{-/-}$ mice which fail to express IL-2, CD25 and CD122 respectively. Even though disrupting IL-2 signalling impairs T cell proliferation and effector functions, the knockout mice paradoxically develop a fatal

lymphoproliferative disease (129). Disease reflects immune-dysregulation of both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells since either subset is sufficient to cause disease (129). The Il2^{-/-}, Il2ra^{-/-}, Il2rb^{-/-} and STAT5^{-/-} mice were all shown to have reduced numbers of T_{REG} cells in the periphery and this appears to be the main reason for the observed uncontrolled proliferation of T_{EFF} cells (123, 124, 129, 130). Although the transfer of wild-type $CD4^+CD25^+$ T_{REG} cells into neonatal IL-2deficient mice could not rescue disease, their transfer into neonatal Il2rb^{-/-} mice completely prevented disease (131). These $Il2rb^{-/-}$ mice, which can produce IL-2, are capable of expanding small number of transferred T_{REG} cells effectively suppressing disease. The transferred T_{REG} cells were shown to seed the lymph nodes (LN) of recipient mice and undergo extensive IL-2-mediated proliferation (132). This IL-2 driven expansion surely explains the failure to rescue $Il2^{-l-}$ mice by T_{REG} cell transfer. Surprisingly, T_{REG} cells only migrated into the spleen three weeks after their transfer, suggesting that the majority of homeostatic T_{REG} cell expansion occurs in the LN. Furthermore, blocking IL-2 in vivo by administration of a neutralizing antibody was also capable of reducing peripheral T_{REG} cell numbers in BALB/c mice, which lead to autoimmune gastritis (127). IL-2 neutralization blocked physiological proliferation of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells and reduced overall cell frequency by 80%. Inversely, mice expressing a constitutively active form of STAT-5, which mimics constant IL-2 signalling, show a 6-fold increase of T_{REG} cell numbers (133). Taken together, these findings suggest a direct role for IL-2 in T_{REG} cell expansion in neonatal mice and in the maintenance of appropriate T_{REG} cell numbers in the periphery, thereby preventing the proliferation of self-reactive T_{EFF} cells.

The downstream effects of IL-2 signalling which promote T_{REG} cell survival were elucidated by two independent studies using bone marrow reconstitution experiments. When chimeras were generated by mixing $Il2ra^{-/-}$ and $Il2ra^{+/+}$ bone marrow, the absence of IL-2 signalling did not prevent the thymic development of Foxp3⁺ cells (123). However, in the peripheral immune system, the majority of Foxp3⁺ cells were of $Il2ra^{+/+}$ origin, suggesting that IL-2

signalling provides mature T_{REG} cells with a competitive advantage (123, 124). DNA micro arrays determined that the various genes affected by IL-2 signalling in T_{REG} cells involved the maintenance of homeostatic proliferation and metabolic fitness (124). Furthermore, the administration of recombinant IL-2 or IL-2 neutralizing antibody into recipient mice was shown to increase or decrease Foxp3 expression on a per cell basis, suggesting it can directly promote the expression of the "master switch" gene (124). Paradoxically, although IL-2 is essential for T_{REG} cell survival, the current belief is that they inhibit T_{EFF} cell proliferation by suppressing IL-2 mRNA (90, 134). This probably reflects a negative feedback loop where an overly suppressed immune system cannot support T_{REG} cell survival.

Although controversial, IL-2 is thought to play an important role in T_{REG} cell function since it can modulate Foxp3 expression. One study has demonstrated that IL-2 is essential for initiating the suppressive activity of T_{REG} cells in vitro since addition of IL-2 neutralizing antibody to T_{EFF}/T_{REG} co-cultures inhibited T_{REG} -mediated suppression of *Il-2* transcription in T_{EFF} cells (134). However, when IL-4 was added simultaneously with IL-2 antibody, suppression of IL-2 mRNA was observed, suggesting that IL-4 can substitute for IL-2 in the activation of the T_{REG} cell suppressor mechanism. In vivo, IL-2 signalling also appears to be essential for the efficient suppressive function of T_{REG} cells, as demonstrated in an animal model for immunity to tumor/self-antigen (135). This study shows that Il2ra-/- TREG cells cannot suppress immune responses in vivo, whereas wild type T_{REG} cells can. In contrast, other studies have shown that thymus-derived $Il2ra^{-/-}$ T_{REG} cells are less suppressive than their wild-type counterparts, nonetheless, even in the absence of IL-2 signalling, T_{REG} cells did show suppressive activity (123). This suggests that although IL-2 signalling favours T_{REG} cell-mediated suppression, it may be dispensable. Surprisingly, one study even reported no discernable difference in the suppression mediated by CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ cells isolated from the LNs of $Il2ra^{-/-}$ or wild-type mice (124). Unfortunately, the authors did not address whether IL-4 signalling was compensating for the lack of CD25 in

Il2ra^{-/-}cells. Additionally, CD25 is able to regulate high-affinity interactions in trans, therefore another unaddressed possibility is that CD25 expressed on activated T_{EFF} cells may augment IL-2 signalling in the *Il2ra*^{-/-} T_{REG} cells which still express the β and γ chains of the IL-2 receptor (136). Therefore since T_{EFF} derived IL-2 may still be providing signals to T_{REG} cells in this system, the effects of this cytokine on T_{REG} cell suppressor activity cannot be fully discounted. Taken together, these studies support a model of suppression where IL-2 or IL-4, produced initially by antigen-stimulated T_{EFF} cells, activates T_{REG} cell suppressor function and is then shut down.

This complex relationship between IL-2 and T_{REG} cells reveal an underlying feedback loop where an excess of activated T_{EFF} -derived cytokines will favour expansion and function of T_{REG} cells. This system also limits the over-accumulation of T_{REG} cells given the scarce amounts of IL-2 produced in a highly suppressed peripheral immune system. Any disruption of this balance can thus favour autoimmunity or prevent the establishment of a proper immune response.

D) T_{REG} cells and costimulation

Since IL-2 production requires co-stimulation of T cells, the CD28 signalling pathway predictably favours T_{REG} homeostasis in the peripheral immune system. The importance of CD28 was demonstrated when the administration of anti-CD80 and anti-CD86 antibodies in several strains of mice consistently reduced the physiological proliferation and survival of T_{REG} cells (137). This CD28 signalling blockade ultimately leads to a substantial decrease of T_{REG} cell numbers. Although CD28 signalling is undoubtedly responsible for *in vivo* production of T_{EFF} cell-derived IL-2, it was also shown that CD28 signalling directly affects T_{REG} cells. The transfer of CFSE-labelled T_{REG} cells into untreated and anti-CD80/CD86-treated recipients revealed that CD28 signalling is important for their steady state homeostatic proliferation in the immune system. Additionally, since wild-type T_{REG} cells fail to survive when transferred into

CD28-deficient recipients, this suggests that the effect of CD28 may be indirect. Given the reduced levels of IL-2 detected in CD28-deficient mice, it is likely that CD28 signalling may simply be important for the production of IL-2 by T_{EFF} cells. However, T_{REG} cells pre-cultured in IL-2 prior to their transfer into CD28-deficient recipients are capable of surviving for at least 30 days, suggesting a direct role for CD28 on T_{REG} cell homeostasis as well. Since blocking CD80/CD86 signalling also correlates with reduced expression of CD25 on T_{REG} cells, it was suggested that the role of CD28 is to maintain expression of CD25 on this population, allowing for their survival. This is also demonstrated by the maintenance of CD25 expression on wild-type T_{REG} cells pre-cultured in IL-2 and transferred into CD28-deficient hosts. However evidence is insufficient to determine whether CD28 signalling directly affects T_{REG} cells in CD28-deficient mice, which, although reduced in numbers, express equivalent CD25 as their wild-type counterparts (138).

In vitro, CD28 mediated co-stimulation, unlike IL-2 or IL-4 signalling, does not appear to be required for the activation of T_{REG} cell suppressive activity (139). However, T_{REG} cell proliferation readily occurs in the presence of activated dendritic cells without the addition of IL-2 to cell cultures (140). Interestingly, when CD86^{high} dendritic cells were sorted out and used to activate T_{REG} cells, this yielded the highest proliferation, suggesting that CD28-mediated signalling may replace IL-2 for breaking the characteristic anergy of these cells. Nonetheless, it was shown that CD86 and TCR stimulation are not sufficient to drive T_{REG} cell division, since activated CD86⁺ B-cells are unable to induce proliferation of T_{REG} cells (141). Taken together, these findings show that CD86 is important but not sufficient for T_{REG} cell proliferation and demonstrate the importance of CD28 signalling in the homeostasis of peripheral T_{REG} cells.

<u>III – The role of T_{REG} cells in Diabetes</u>

A) Role of T_{REG} cells in diabetes suppression

In the NOD mouse, the delay between checkpoints 1 and 2 is strongly suggestive of either a gradual loss of T_{REG} cell function or accumulation of activated T_{EFF} cells which overwhelm the T_{REG} cell compartment. Although periinsulitis begins at 3-4 weeks of age, an additional 5-6 weeks are required for the immune infiltrate to actually enter the pancreatic islets. As previously mentioned, early experiments demonstrated that CD4⁺ T cells from young pre-diabetic NOD mice could suppress disease induced by lymphocytes from diabetic NOD mice (78, 80). These experiments reveal the presence of an immuno-regulatory population and the age-dependent decrease in their number or function. Since then, various studies have identified CD4⁺CD62L^{hi} and CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells as the suppressors of diabetes, with CD4⁺CD25⁺CD62L^{hi} cells being the most suppressive (102, 142-144). Some studies have also suggested that TCR specificity of the T_{REG} cell population may influence suppressor function since islet-specific T_{REG} cells from the BDC2.5 TCR transgenic NOD mouse are more effective than polyclonal NOD T_{REG} cells at controlling diabetes progression (59, 145, 146). It was shown that ex vivo expanded BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells were highly efficient at suppressing diabetes when co-transferred with diabetogenic splenocytes into immunodeficient recipients. Remarkably, these expanded T_{REG} cells were also capable of reversing established diabetes in regular NOD mice (145). Although the BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells represent a monoclonal pool of transgenic T cells, wild-type NOD mice contain a rare population of polyclonal T_{REG} cells with the same specificity and which are also quite efficient at suppressing diabetes (59).

Studies using the BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells have been invaluable for elucidating the precise mechanism of T_{REG} cells in the suppression of diabetes. First, although BDC2.5 mice show no immune cell infiltration in the pancreas the first two weeks

of life and very few activated CD4⁺CD69⁺ T cells in the pLN, T cells abruptly invade the pancreatic islets by 15 to 18 days (147). This infiltration rapidly progresses into insulitis and by 3-4 weeks of age all of the islets in the pancreas of BDC2.5 mice are heavily infiltrated. These observations demonstrate that the BDC2.5 transgenic CD4⁺ T cell response to self-antigen is highly synchronous and thus a good model for elucidating the various steps involved in the loss of self tolerance in the context of T1D. Second, paradoxically, only 10-15% of BDC2.5 female mice develop diabetes by 30 weeks of age which is significantly less than the ~80% incidence observed in non-transgenic/wild-type NOD mice. Therefore, even though insulitis occurs earlier and is seemingly more aggressive in BDC2.5 mice, immunoregulatory mechanisms are able to control autoimmunity. This may reflect a more suppressible monoclonal T_{EFF} population possessing a single specificity or alternatively, the efficiency of a highly-specific T_{REG} cell population.

Recent studies have been successful at elucidating the mechanism of diabetes suppression in BDC2.5 mice and have established a working model (148, 149). It was observed that a population of $CD4^+CD25^+CD69^-T_{REG}$ cells are in fact present in the pancreas along with T_{EFF} cells in 3-4 week old BDC2.5 mice and that both subsets are actively proliferating (148). Analysis of these pancreasinfiltrating cells suggests that they represent a functionally different and more "specialized" population of T_{REG} or T_{EFF} cells than their counterparts in the pLN and other non-draining LNs. The pancreatic T_{EFF} cells were very potent inducers of diabetes compared to spleen-derived T_{EFF} cells in adoptive transfer experiments and, conversely, pancreatic T_{REG} cells were very efficient suppressors of disease. Microarray analysis confirmed their increased suppressor function since most conventional T_{REG} cell marker-genes were upregulated in pancreas-derived cells compared to non-draining LNs and even pLN. Once in the pancreas T_{REG} cells increase expression of immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10, inducible costimulator (ICOS) and GITR (148). Consequently, the suppression of diabetes may be linked to T_{REG}-derived IL-10 since this cytokine is a well documented suppressor of T_{H1} immune responses. Amazingly, the administration of anti-ICOS blocking antibodies into neonate BDC2.5 mice induced diabetes by 25 days of age, shortly after the onset of insulitis. Therefore, blocking ICOS prevented immunoregulation typically seen after pancreas infiltration in BDC2.5 mice, suggesting loss of T_{REG} cell function. Similarly, Foxp3-deficient BDC2.5 mice, which contain no T_{REG} cells, develop diabetes by day 21 (149). However, contrary to the systemic deficiency of T_{REG} cells in the Foxp3 knockout mice, anti-ICOS antibody administration only decreased T_{REG} cell frequency locally in the pancreas. Therefore, ICOS-derived signals are important in the pancreas for increased T_{REG} cell function which leads to diabetes protection in BDC2.5 mice. However, one problem with this study is the use of CD25 to identify T_{REG} cells and not Foxp3, implying that the observed effects of anti-ICOS treatment may simply reflect a reduction of CD25 expression in $CD4^{+}Foxp3^{+}T_{REG}$ cells without necessarily reducing their numbers in the pancreas. Also, the microarray data, which is based on the identification of T_{REG} cells by CD25 expression, may not be very relevant since each organ analyzed may contain varying frequencies of contaminating Foxp3⁻ T_{EFF} cells within the CD4⁺CD25⁺ population.

Once "primed", pancreatic T_{REG} cells are thought to suppress the progression of insulitis, not its initiation (142, 149). It was observed comparing wild-type and Foxp3-deficient BDC2.5 mice that T_{REG} cells do not influence the activation or proliferation of T_{EFF} cells, as assessed by CD69 expression and 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation, respectively (149). Differentiation of T_{EFF} cells into T_{H1} cells was not affected by T_{REG} cells either, since no differences were observed in IFN- γ mRNA levels. The main impact of T_{EFF} cell frequency in the pancreas. This is highlighted in Foxp3-deficient or anti-ICOS treated BDC2.5 mice where insulitis is immediately aggressive. Additionally, since pancreatic T_{REG} cells adoptively transferred into immuno-deficient recipients do not migrate to the pancreas, this suggests a model where T_{EFF} cells receive

costimulatory signals via the ICOS molecule and this increases signature T_{REG} genes such as *Il-10* which mediate the suppression of insulitis progression. Unfortunately, in non-transgenic NOD mice, the precise role of IL-10 remains controversial since the administration of a neutralizing antibody did not abrogate $CD4^+CD62L^{high}$ -mediated suppression in adoptive transfer experiments (142). Also, single cell analysis of pancreas-derived $CD4^+CD25^+CD62L^{high}$ T_{REG} cells revealed no expression of IL-10 mRNA. However, since BDC2.5 mice represent an exaggerated autoimmune reaction, this may simply reflect a system of multiple overlapping immunosuppressive mechanisms mediated by T_{REG} cells in the pancreatic islet cells.

In addition, TGF- β has also been linked to diabetes protection in NOD mice in at least two separate models. One group showed that a transient pulse of TGF- β in the pancreatic islets during checkpoint 1 (peri-insulitis) is sufficient to inhibit disease by increasing the frequency of intra-islet $CD4^+CD25^+Foxp3^+T_{REG}$ cells (150). This increase may be due to the expansion of naturally occurring T_{REG} cells or possibly by the TGF- β -mediated induction of Foxp3 in T_{EFF} cells (151). Since TGF- β can cause non-regulatory cells to become suppressive, this population may represent induced T_{REG} cells. Similarly, the anti-CD3 treatment of diabetic NOD mice was shown to induce a population of T_{REG} cells from non- T_{REG} cell precursors (88). This was demonstrated when anti-CD3 injection into CD28-deficient NOD mice (which contain very few T_{REG} cells) lead to the appearance of immunosuppressive CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells and the remission of diabetes. Disease remission was abrogated by co-administration of a TGF- β neutralizing antibody, supporting the theory of a TGF- β -induced population of T_{REG} cells. Unfortunately, since the exact source of TGF- β remains uncertain and the origin of this T_{REG} population is unknown (naturally occurring or induced), these findings remain controversial. Also, since CD25 was used as a T_{REG} cell marker in this study, it is unclear whether TGF- β merely expands the population of CD25⁻Foxp3⁺ T_{REG} cells or whether it is capable of inducing *de novo* Foxp3 expression.

Although several studies have focused on the mechanism of diabetes suppression by T_{REG} cells, the exact reason for loss of tolerance remains unclear. Since diabetes still occurs in a small number of BDC2.5 mice which contain functional T_{REG} cells, this suggests that the NOD genotype is responsible for the age-related loss of immunoregulation and the possible decrease of T_{REG} cell numbers or function (152, 153). However, compared to other non-autoimmune strains, NOD mice do not show decreased frequency of T_{REG} cells in either the thymus or peripheral immune system (153). Instead, several studies point to an age-related decrease in T_{REG} cell suppressor function and expression of *Foxp3*, *Il*-10 and Tgfb1 genes (152, 154). However, once again these studies did not use Foxp3 to identify T_{REG} cells and these findings may simply reflect that the CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells are progressively contaminated with activated non-regulatory T_{EFF} cells. Therefore, an age-dependent loss of T_{REG} cell numbers or function has yet to be clearly demonstrated. Additionally, it appears as though T_{EFF} cells become "less suppressible" in older NOD mice, displaying resistance to TGFBdependent mediated inhibition, which leads to increased cell proliferation and IFN- γ production (152, 155). Therefore, it appears as though loss of immunoregulation in NOD mice is due to qualitative age-dependent changes in both T_{REG} and T_{EFF} populations.

B) Role of IL-2 in diabetes protection

In addition to these age-related changes in cell function, both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells in NOD mice are hyporesponsive to TCR activation (156). Surprisingly, T cells respond normally to TCR activation until 4 weeks of age, at which point T cells begin to demonstrate an intrinsic defect in their response to TCR stimulus, coinciding with the onset of insulitis. A subsequent study revealed that T cell anergy was caused by the drastic reduction of IL-2 produced by T cells and the complete absence of IL-4 (157). Addition of IL-2 or IL-4 to cell cultures rescues T cells from this hyporesponsiveness phenotype (157). Given the

importance of IL-2 on T_{REG} cell homeostasis, reduced levels of this cytokine may explain, at least partially, the loss of self tolerance which leads to peri-insulitis (checkpoint 1) and, ultimately, overt diabetes (checkpoint 2) in NOD mice.

At the onset of peri-insulitis, these reduced IL-2 levels may be responsible for the age-related decrease in T_{REG} cell function observed in NOD mice. This hypothesis is supported by IL-2 neutralization studies carried out in the NOD mouse in which administration of anti-IL-2 exacerbated diabetes by promoting earlier disease onset and more aggressive insulitis (127). Furthermore, the majority of NOD mice receiving antibody also developed a wide spectrum of additional organ specific autoimmune diseases, including gastritis and thyroiditis (127). These findings demonstrate that perturbation of the IL-2 pathway accentuates the NOD phenotype and highlights the importance of this cytokine in the maintenance of self-tolerance. Certain lines of evidence also identify IL-2 as one of several susceptibility genes for T1D.

C) The NOD.B6 Idd3 congenic mouse

To date, over 20 genetic loci (termed *Idd* loci, for insulin-dependent diabetes) have been mapped that contribute to the T1D susceptibility in NOD mice (Table 4). These loci were identified mostly through the use of congenic mice which are generated by crossing NOD mice with autoimmune resistant strains such as C57BL/6 or C3H/HeJ mice, followed by the successive backcrossing of progeny onto the NOD background (158). After multiple backcrosses, strains of NOD mice are generated which containing the complete NOD genome at all but one genetic region which originates from diabetes-resistant mice. Most of the *Idd* loci have been mapped to well defined regions of the mouse genome and were found to contain multiple genes. Therefore, each *Idd* locus may contain several candidate genes, illustrating the complex genetic control of disease susceptibility. Certain strains, such as the NOD mouse containing a protective *Idd5* allele (termed NOD.B6 *Idd5*), show slightly reduced

diabetes onset (60% of females by 30 weeks (158)) whereas others show a more dramatic decrease in disease.

The *Idd3* locus seems to be one of the most important determinants of diabetes susceptibility. Female NOD mice containing a protective *Idd3* locus from C57BL/6 mice (termed NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice) show less than 20% incidence of diabetes by 30 weeks of age (158, 159). The *Idd3* locus was eventually mapped to a 780 kb region of mouse chromosome 3 and contains three genes: *Il-2, Il-21* and fibroblast growth factor-2 (*Fgf-2*) (160, 161). The main candidate genes for diabetes protection by the *Idd3* locus are *Il-2* and *Il-21*. Thus far, only one study has suggested a role for IL-21 whereby expression of the protective *Idd3* allele results in reduced levels of this cytokine (161). In fact, in wild-type NOD mice the higher expression of IL-21 leads to the reduced survival of T cells and the onset of lymphopenia, a known catalyst for autoimmunity (162). Contrary to other common γ -chain cytokines, IL-21 does not support the survival of T cells. Instead, it promotes their proliferation and consequential down-regulation of anti-apoptotic genes, which causes lymphopenia in NOD mice.

Given the importance of IL-2 in the maintenance of tolerance, this cytokine is also a strong candidate for protection in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice. One study identified different glycosylation patterns between NOD- and NOD.B6 *Idd3*-derived IL-2 (163). Whereas NOD mice produce a single glycosylated species of IL-2, NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice produce both unglycosylated and glycosylated species of this cytokine. It is thought that the difference in glycosylation may affect the half-life, binding affinity or signalling of the IL-2 molecule although none of these theories have been directly proven. Several studies, in which allogeneic islet transplantations were performed in NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice, show a generalized defect in tolerance induction in wild-type NOD mice (164, 165). It was determined that one or more genes within the protective *Idd3* locus lead to increased survival of the transplanted allogeneic islets in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice compared to wild type NOD mice (165). Given these
findings it is tempting to speculate that the same gene(s) involved in the augmented tolerance induction to allograft may be at play increasing tolerance to self.

Although, thus far, the *IL-2* gene is not considered a candidate gene for susceptibility to human T1D, the *IL-2RA* gene, which encodes CD25, is thought to be a genetic determinant for disease (166). Therefore, several lines of evidence support the role for IL-2-mediated signalling in the maintenance of self tolerance which promotes homeostasis and, most likely, function of T_{REG} cells. A dysregulation in either IL-2 or IL-2R signalling is thought to occur in both NOD mice and T1D patients which may impact the T_{REG} population and ultimately leads to a breakdown of self-tolerance leading to autoimmunity.

Rationale and Objectives

. - -

The increased frequency of T_{REG} cells in transgenic mice which either continuously express IL-2 in their serum or which contain a constitutively-active form of STAT-5 clearly reflects the importance of IL-2 on T_{REG} cell homeostasis (133, 135). Therefore, given the presence of the Il-2 gene in the Idd3 locus, we hypothesize that NOD.B6 Idd3 congenic mice either produce a more potent differentially glycosylated IL-2, a larger amount of this cytokine or differences in its expression kinetics which endows these mice with a quantitative or qualitative advantage in their T_{REG} population compared to wild type NOD mice. The goal of our study was to elucidate the various effects of a protective Idd3 locus on both T_{EFF} and T_{REG} subsets. For this purpose, various in vitro assays were performed on total CD4⁺ or CD4⁺CD25⁻ (T_{EFF}) cells purified from NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice. Also, given the discovery of Foxp3 as a reliable marker for T_{REG} cells, the identification of this subset in autoimmune mice which may express CD25^+ T_{EFF} cells is no longer problematic. Thus, using a novel intra-nuclear staining protocol for Foxp3 coupled with multi-parametric flow cytometric analysis, we screened the thymus, various peripheral lymphoid organs and pancreas in order to identify whether any changes in T_{REG} cell frequency were responsible for diabetes resistance in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice. Finally, it was important to determine whether the *Idd3* locus could affect the ability of T_{REG} cells to suppress diabetes *in vivo*.

. • ~

Material and Methods

Mice. NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice were purchased from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY). NOD.TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ and BDC2.5 TCR transgenic NOD mice (henceforth termed BDC2.5) were initially a kind gift from D. Mathis and C. Benoist (Joslin Diabetes Center, Boston, MA) and maintained by breeding in our animal facilities. BDC2.5 TCR transgenic NOD mice containing the B6 Idd3 locus (termed BDC.Idd3) were generated by crossing male BDC2.5 transgenic NOD mice with NOD.B6 *Idd3* females. The F_1 litters which were transgenic for the BDC2.5 TCR were backcrossed to NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. Transgenic F₂ litters were screened for homozygous presence of the B6 Idd3 locus by PCR using the two distal microsatellite markers that differentiate NOD and B6 genomic segments: D3Nds36 and D3Nds34. NOD.B6 Idd3 homozygote BDC2.5 transgenic mice were subsequently used as breeders. The BDC2.5 TCR transgenic mice were screened for the expression of V β 4 on CD4⁺ peripheral blood leukocytes. All mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions in the Lyman Duff animal facility at McGill University. All experiments were performed using cells from age-matched female mice. Fasting glycemia was monitored using Accu-check advantage colorimetric strips, a kind gift from Roche Diagnostics (Laval, Quebec). Overt diabetes was defined as glycemia >300 mg/dl.

Flow Cytometry. For all flow cytometry experiments, single cell suspensions were prepared by glass-slide disruption of thymus, spleen, pancreatic lymph nodes (pLN) and pooled peripheral lymph nodes (inguinal, brachial and axillary lymph nodes) (LN). Red blood cells were removed from splenocyte preparations by hypotonic lysis and viable cells were counted in all samples using the Trypan Blue exclusion assay. Cells were subsequently stained at 4°C in PBS containing 2% FBS and 0.1% sodium azide. Staining was performed with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies to CD4 (GK1.5 or RM4-5), CD25 (PC61), CD69 (H1.2F3) or V β 4 (CTVB4) (eBioscience, San Diego, CA). Intra-nuclear staining for Foxp3

(FJK-16s) was performed according to manufacturer's protocol (eBioscience). In certain experiments, intracellular staining for IFN- γ (XMG1.2) and IL-2 (JES6-5H4) was performed following PMA/Ionomycin stimulation in the presence of monesin for the final 3h. Cells were stained for surface markers, fixed for 10min in 4% paraformaldehyde, subsequently permeabilized with 0.5% saponin (Sigma-Aldrich, St-Louis, MO), stained for cytokines at room temperature for 30 min and washed twice with 0.5% saponin. Samples were acquired on FACSCalibur flow cytometer using CellQuest software (BD Biosciences).

Isolation of islet-infiltrating lymphocytes. Once all pLNs were removed from the mice, the remaining pancreas tissue was cut into small pieces using dissection scissors and digested in HBSS (Invitrogen, Burlington, Ont) with 1mg/ml collagenase V (Invitrogen) and 1 μ g/ml DNase I (Sigma-Aldrich) by slow shaking at 37°C for 30 min. The digestion was stopped by adding cold FBS and pancreatic tissue was centrifuged for 1 min at 200g. Tissue was washed twice with HBSS-FBS 10% and islets were dissociated in non-enzymatic dissociation buffer (Invitrogen) for 10 min at 37°C. Cells were passed through a 200 μ m mesh nylon screen and left on ice for 5 min to allow debris to sediment. The supernatant containing the cells was collected, stained for surface and intracellular markers and gated based on the conventional lymphocyte FSC/SSC profile.

Cell cultures. All T cells were cultured in cRPMI: 1640 RPMI supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 μ g/ml), 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 mM HEPES, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate (all from Invitrogen) and 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were cultured at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂.

RT-PCR. High purity (>99.7%) $CD4^+CD25^-T$ cells were isolated from the inguinal, axillary, brachial and mesenteric lymph nodes of NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice using the FACSAria flow cytometer (BD Bioscience). Cells were

activated in 24-well plates coated with 10 µg/ml purified anti-CD3 (2C11) and harvested at various time points where total RNA was extracted using TRIzol (Invitrogen) and reverse transcribed using Superscript II Kit following the manufacturer's recommendations (Invitrogen). PCR amplification was performed on all samples (5 min at 94°C followed by 28 cycles (45 s at 96°C, 45 s at 72°C and 1 min at 55°C) followed by a final extension of 10min at 72°C) using the following primers: interleukin-2 (IL-2) TTCAAGCTCCACTTCAAGCT-CTACAGCGGAAG (forward) and GACAGAAGGCTATCCATCTCCTCAGA-AAGTCC (reverse); glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (G3PDH) CACTCACGGCAAAT-TCAACGGC (forward) and ATCACAAACATGGG GGCATC-GG (reverse). RNA integrity and cDNA synthesis were verified by amplifying GAPDH cDNA. Amplified fragments were size-separated by electrophoresis in 1.8% agarose gels and visualized using ethidium bromide.

In vitro functional assays. Proliferation assays were performed by culturing 5 x 10^4 FACSAria-sorted CD4⁺ and CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells in 96 well flat-bottom microtiter plates with purified soluble anti-CD3 and 2x10⁵ irradiated (3000 rads) splenocytes in a total volume of 200 µl. Cells were cultured in cRPMI for 72h in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂ and pulsed with 0.5 µCi of [³H] thymidine for the last 8h of culture. Cells were then harvested and thymidine incorporation was measured using a Microbeta Trilux plate reader (Wallac-PerkinElmer, Wellesley, MA).

Preparation and adoptive transfer of CFSE-labelled lymphocytes. Single cell suspensions were prepared from the LN and spleen of 8-10 week old BDC2.5 or BDC.Idd3 mice using a steel-wire mesh. Cells were subsequently labelled with PE-conjugated anti-CD25 for 20 min at 4°C. Cells were then labeled with anti-PE microbeads (Miltenyi Biotech, San Diego, CA) and lymphocytes were depleted of CD25⁺ using autoMACS cell sorting. The CD25-depleted lymphocytes were then stained in 1.25 μ m carboxy-succinimidyl-fluorescein-ester (CFSE) (Molecular Probes-Invitrogen) at room temperature for 5 min. Flow cytometry was used to

determine the total percentage of CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells in cell preparations and a total of 2-3 x 10^{6} CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells were injected i.v. in the tail vein of 6-8 wk old NOD or NOD.B6 *Idd3* recipients. Four days after adoptive transfer (90-92h), recipient mice were sacrificed. The pLN and mLN were excised and processed separately to obtain single cell suspensions, counted and stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies. Data shown is gated on CFSE-labelled CD4⁺Vβ4⁺ lymphocytes.

Preparation and adoptive transfer of purified T cells. CD4⁺ T cell subsets were isolated from the spleen, inguinal, brachial, axillary and mesenteric LNs of 6-8 wk BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice. Single cell suspensions were prepared from pooled organs using a steel wire mesh. Cells were resuspended and stained with FITCconjugated anti-CD4 and PE-conjugated anti-CD25 for 20 min at 4°C. Cells were then labelled with anti-PE microbeads (Miltenyi Biotech, San Diego, CA) and CD25⁺ cells were sorted using autoMACS. The purity of the CD25⁺ fraction was assessed by flow cytometry and was routinely ~85% CD4⁺CD25⁺. The CD25⁻cell fraction was then labeled with anti-FITC microbeads (Miltenyi) and purified using autoMACS cell sorting (>96 % CD4⁺CD25⁻). For total CD4⁺ T cell purification, only FITC anti-CD4 antibody was used, coupled with anti-FITC beads (purity >96%). Cells (0.5 x 10^6) were injected i.v. in the tail vein of 8-12 wk old NOD.TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ recipients and blood glucose was monitored every 2-3 days starting on day 5 post-transfer. At day 14, recipients were sacrificed and various organs were excised, single cell suspensions prepared and stained for various markers. Data shown is gated on $CD4^+V\beta4^+$ cells.

Data and statistical analysis. Data always represent averaged values with one standard deviation. All statistical analysis was performed using the Student's t test (two-tailed). Only values of p<0.05 were considered significant.

Results

NOD.B6 Idd3 mice show a reduced incidence of T1D and decreased accumulation of pathogenic T_{HI} cells in vivo.

NOD.B6 Idd3 mice were initially reported to have reduced diabetes incidence compared to wild-type NOD mice (159). In our colony, female NOD mice start to develop overt diabetes by ~14 wk of age and incidence reaches 85% by 28 weeks. In contrast, only 10% of NOD.B6 Idd3 female mice were diabetic by 28 wk of age, with the earliest onset occurring at 25 wk of age (Fig. 3A). Since diabetes is caused by the T_{H1} -mediated destruction of the pancreatic β islet-cells, various lymphoid organs of pre-diabetic NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice were screened in order to determine whether the protective Idd3 locus affects the accumulation of pro-inflammatory T_{H1} cells in vivo. In order to screen for T_{H1} cells, single cell suspensions were prepared from the pLNs, spleen and pooled peripheral lymph nodes (LNs) of individual mice, activated for 4 hours with PMA/ionomycin and stained for intracellular IFN- γ . The frequency of IFN- γ^+ CD4⁺ T cells was assessed in the aforementioned organs of each mouse by flow cytometric analysis. IFN- γ^+ CD4⁺ T cells were readily detected in the pLNs, LNs and spleen of 12 wk old pre-diabetic NOD mice (Fig. 3B). In the pLNs of NOD mice $3.86 \pm 0.09\%$ of CD4⁺ T cells were IFN- γ^+ compared to only $1.81 \pm 0.32\%$ for NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice. Similarly, 3.16 ± 0.23 % of CD4⁺ T cells from NOD LNs produced IFN- γ subsequent to in vitro activation, compared to a mere 1.62 ± 0.21% in NOD.B6 Idd3 LNs. In the spleen, NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice both show the highest frequency of T_{H1} differentiated cells at 12.02 ± 2.18 % and 7.46 ± 0.27 % of total CD4⁺ T cells, respectively. Thus these findings demonstrate that T_{H1} cells are systemically present in both NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 pre-diabetic mice. However, the protective Idd3 allele is capable of reducing by at least 40% the frequency of pro-inflammatory potentially pathogenic T_{H1} cells throughout the peripheral immune system. Therefore, diminished accumulation of T_{H1} cells

correlates with reduced diabetes incidence in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice, suggesting that the *Idd3* locus halts the progression to clinical autoimmunity in this model. Our data also suggest that NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice restrict the optimal priming, expansion or effector functions of potentially diabetogenic cells.

The protective Idd3 allele increases IL-2 gene expression and production by activated effector T cells.

Since the IFN-y gene is not found within the protective Idd3 locus, our findings exclude the possibility that protection in the NOD.B6 Idd3 mice is simply due to a decrease in IFN- γ expression. Instead, it is more likely that reduced T_{H1} cell frequency is a downstream effect of the protection conferred by the B6-derived Idd3 allele. Present within the Idd3 locus, is the gene encoding IL-2, a well described T cell growth factor and important promoter of immunological tolerance (129). Given its importance in the survival and function of immunosuppressive $CD4^+CD25^+$ T_{REG} cells, the *Il-2* gene has long been proposed as a candidate for diabetes protection in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice (159, 160, 163, 167). Interestingly, the Il-2 promoter from the protective Idd3 allele does possess some sequence variants compared to the NOD Idd3 allele and this may influence IL-2 expression (160, 163). Therefore, monitoring IL-2 production in both mouse strains was a good starting point to elucidate the mechanism of increased tolerance in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. In vivo, IL-2 is produced primarily by activated $\text{CD4}^+\text{T}_{\text{EFF}}$ cells (127). Therefore, $\text{CD4}^+\text{CD25}^-\text{T}_{\text{EFF}}$ cells from young pre-diabetic 3-4 wk old NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice were isolated by FACS and activated with plate-bound anti-CD3 for 48 hours and Il-2 gene expression was assessed at various time points using semi-quantitative RT-PCR. For this experiment $CD4^+CD25^+$ T_{REG} cells were purposely excluded from cultures since they have been shown to suppress IL-2 mRNA expression in T_{EFF} cells (90, 134). Subsequent to activation, NOD.B6 Idd3 T_{EFF} cells expressed higher levels of IL-2 mRNA than NOD T_{EFF} cells (Fig. 4A). Although IL-2 mRNA levels were comparable at 12h in both T_{EFF} populations, only NOD.B6 Idd3 T_{EFF} cells maintained high expression levels until 48h compared to NOD T_{EFF} cells which peaked at 12h and quickly diminished (Fig 4A). In order to correlate these findings with the production of IL-2 protein, CD4⁺CD25⁻ T_{EFF} cells from 3-4 wk old mice were activated with PMA/ionomycin for 24h and cells were subsequently stained for intracellular IL-2. Consistent with the RT-PCR results, higher frequencies of IL-2-producing NOD.B6 *Idd3* T_{EFF} cells were detected compared to NOD T_{EFF} cells (Fig 4B). Thus, these findings demonstrate that the protective *Idd3* allele favours increased IL-2 gene expression and protein production in activated T_{EFF} cells.

The protective Idd3 allele bolsters T_{REG} function in activated CD4⁺ T cells

 T_{REG} cells fail to make IL-2, suppress T_{EFF} cells by down-regulating IL-2 synthesis, yet paradoxically require IL-2 for their development (124, 127, 132, 134, 139). As T_{EFF} cells are the major source in IL-2, we hypothesized that the increased IL-2 production by NOD.B6 Idd3 T_{EFF} cells potentiated T_{REG} cell suppressive function. To determine if this was the case, we compared the proliferation of CD4⁺CD25⁻ T_{EFF} cells and total CD4⁺ T cells from both strains. Since T_{REG} cells constitute approximately 10% of all CD4⁺ T cells, this assay allowed us to determine the suppressive potential of T_{REG} cells in NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice at their physiological frequencies. When we compared the proliferation of CD4⁺CD25⁻ T_{EFF} cells (in the absence of T_{REG} cells), NOD.B6 Idd3 T_{EFF} cells proliferated more vigorously than NOD T_{EFF} cells in response to anti-CD3 stimulation, as assessed by thymidine incorporation (Fig. 5A). Interestingly, this corroborates our IL-2 gene/protein expression data since IL-2 is a T cell growth factor and higher cytokine production by activated NOD.B6 Idd3 T_{EFF} cells would lead to increased proliferation relative to NOD T_{EFF} cells. Surprisingly, when CD4⁺ T cell proliferation was assessed, NOD cells proliferated significantly more than the NOD.B6 Idd3 cells (Fig. 5A). To adequately compare the suppressor potency of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells within the unfractionated CD4⁺ T cells, we calculated the reduction of T_{EFF} proliferation in the presence of T_{REG} cells $[100\% - (CD4^+ \text{ prolif.} \div CD4^+ \text{CD25}^- \text{ prolif.})$. Whereas the presence of $CD4^+CD25^+$ T_{REG} cells only reduced the proliferation of T_{EFF} cells by ~7% in NOD cells, NOD.B6 *Idd3* T_{REG} cells were capable of suppressing proliferation of T_{EFF} cells by ~55% at physiological ratios. These findings demonstrate that the protective *Idd3* allele reduces the proliferation of total CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro* and this may account for reduced T_{H1} differentiation and diabetes *in vivo*. Importantly, these data also reveal that a difference in the CD4⁺CD25⁺ population is responsible for this reduced proliferation since removal of these cells unleashes the proliferative capacity of the NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺CD25⁻ T_{EFF} cells.

To gain better insight on how the protective Idd3 allele favoured the suppressive function of T_{REG} cells, the proliferative capacity of CD4⁺ T cells was determined by CFSE dilution analysis. Since CFSE-labelled cells will lose half their fluorescence at each round of cell division, it is possible to determine the total number of cell divisions within a labelled population. Thus, CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from both strains of mice, CFSE-labelled and activated for 72h with soluble anti-CD3 in the presence of irradiated splenocytes. In order to monitor T_{REG} cells frequency in this assay, CD25 could not be used since it is only a good marker for T_{REG} cells within a naïve CD4⁺ T cell population. Therefore, we made use of an intra-nuclear Foxp3 staining kit in order to adequately identify Foxp3⁺ T_{REG} cells within the CFSE-labelled CD4⁺ T cells. For our analysis, to evaluate the dominance of T_{REG} cells within the CD4⁺ population, the T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios were calculated and compared for both strains at various time points subsequent to activation. Interestingly, freshly isolated CD4⁺ T cells from both mice strains had comparable frequencies of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T_{REG} cells, typically between 8-10%. However, subsequent to anti-CD3 stimulation, the protective Idd3 locus promoted an increased accumulation of Foxp3⁺ cells throughout the 72h period observed, leading to increased T_{REG}: T_{EFF} ratios (Fig. 5B). Surprisingly, CFSE dilution-based cell cycle analysis at 72h revealed that the increased T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio in activated NOD.B6 Idd3 CD4⁺ T cells did not correlate with higher proliferation of T_{REG} cells (Table 5). In contrast, when we compared the proliferation of CD4⁺Foxp3⁻

 T_{EFF} cells, NOD cells showed a greater frequency of cells having undergone at least 5 rounds of division compared to NOD.B6 *Idd3* cells (32.5% vs. 28.4%; Table 5). The overall proliferation of NOD CD4⁺ T cells also shows a greater proportion of cells having undergone at least 5 rounds of division compared to NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺ T cells (31.7% vs. 26.4%; Table 5). Therefore, higher $T_{REG}:T_{EFF}$ ratios do not reflect the increased proliferation of T_{REG} cells in NOD.B6 *Idd3* cells but instead coincide with a reduction in the proliferative capacity of T_{EFF} cells. Interestingly, differences in Foxp3⁺ T_{REG} cell frequencies were apparent as early as 24h, before any detectable cell division, suggesting that the survival of T_{REG} cells may also be favoured in the presence of the protective *Idd3* allele. Nonetheless, our data demonstrate that NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺ T cells proliferate less than NOD CD4⁺T cells and this correlates with increased $T_{REG}:T_{EFF}$ ratios subsequent to activation.

The protective Idd3 allele does not increase the systemic frequency of T_{REG} cells in vivo

Given the impact of the protective *Idd3* allele on T_{REG} frequency within an activated CD4⁺ T cell population, it was important to determine whether reduced diabetes in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice may simply be due to the favoured development and consequently increased numbers of T_{REG} cells in their immune system. Ultimately, if an increase in T_{REG} cell frequency was caused by the B6-derived *Idd3* allele, this could potentially increase tolerance in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice and protect from T1D. It was also possible that reduced diabetes in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice was due to the decreased number of islet-reactive T_{EFF} cells present in the immune system, leading to a less aggressive autoimmune response. Thus, it was important to survey the various lymphoid organs in NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice for any differences in T_{EFF} cell and T_{REG} cell populations which would reflect diabetes susceptibility or protection. For our analysis, we compared 12 week old pre-diabetic animals since NOD mice at this age have established insulitis yet are still several weeks away from overt diabetes (17). Various lymphoid organs were

harvested from age-matched female mice, prepared into single-cell suspensions, counted, stained for various cell markers and analyzed by flow cytometry. Since Foxp3 expression correlates highly with suppressive function (109, 111), we compared the total frequency and absolute numbers of T_{EFF} (CD4⁺Foxp3⁻) and T_{REG} (CD4⁺Foxp3⁺) cells in both strains of mice.

We first looked at thymic CD4 single-positive (CD4⁺CD8⁻) T cells, in order to elucidate any effects of the Idd3 locus on T cell development in the thymus. Since no discernable differences were observed in the frequency or absolute numbers of thymic T_{EFF} and T_{REG} cells, it was concluded that the Idd3 locus does not affect the development of these CD4⁺ T subsets in the thymus (Fig. 6). In the peripheral immune system, we first looked at whether reduced numbers of T_{EFF} cells correlated with diabetes protection in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. Surprisingly, in pLNs, spleen and pooled peripheral LNs there were no detectable differences in either the frequency (Fig. 6A) or absolute number (Fig. 6B) of T_{EFF} cells between NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice. When we compared the frequency of recently activated T_{EFF} cells expressing either the CD69 or CD25 early activation markers we could detect no differences in the pLN (NOD=10.5 \pm 0.7% vs. NOD.B6 Idd3=12.1 \pm 1.3%). Since these markers of early activation are likely to reflect the initiation of a diabetogenic response in the pLNs, our findings suggest that a reduction in pancreas-specific T_{EFF} cells is not a likely cause for disease resistance in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. Thus, these data demonstrate that NOD.B6 Idd3 mice do not possess reduced numbers or overall frequency of T_{EFF} cells and most likely do not contain less islet-reactive cells in their CD4⁺ T cell repertoire than NOD mice. When we screened these same peripheral organs for differences in the CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T_{REG} cell population, NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice did not show increased frequencies (Fig. 6C) or absolute numbers (Fig. 6D) of these immunosuppressive cells. Surprisingly, no discernable differences could be detected in the pLN, the site of diabetes initiation. Thus, these findings exclude the possibility that a systemic or localized (pLN) increase of T_{REG} cell numbers in the immune system are responsible for diabetes protection in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice.

Since recent studies have shown that T_{REG} cell-mediated suppression of diabetes takes place inside the pancreatic islets and not in the peripheral immune system (148, 149), the next step was to assess the frequency of T_{EFF} and T_{REG} cells present within the pancreas. For this purpose, pancreas infiltrating lymphocytes were isolated and analyzed by flow cytometry. As expected, CD4⁺ T cells were readily detected in the pancreas of NOD mice, consistent with isletinfiltration of the immune system and progression towards T1D. Surprisingly, NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice also contained CD4⁺ T cells in the pancreas however at much lower frequencies than NOD mice. Whereas $CD4^+$ T cells represented 9.02 ± 1.13 % of the pancreatic infiltrate in the NOD mice, they only represented 4.49 ± 0.39 % of the infiltrate in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice (p=0.0064). When the CD4⁺ T cells were subdivided according to Foxp3 expression, we found that NOD mice possessed a greater frequency of T_{EFF} cells in the pancreas compared to NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice (Fig. 6A). Interestingly, this increase was specific to CD4⁺Foxp3⁻ T cells since the frequency of pancreas-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells appeared to be unaffected by the *Idd3* allele, consisting of 3.02 ± 0.50 % and 2.42 ± 0.44 % of the pancreatic infiltrate for NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice, respectively. Additional flow cytometric analysis of the pancreas revealed that the overall frequency of T_{REG} cells was identical in the pancreas of both strains (Fig. 6C), suggesting that increased numbers of suppressive cells is not the cause of diabetes protection in NOD.B6 Idd3. However, consistent with our in vitro data (Fig. 5B), activated NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺ T cells in the pancreas maintain higher T_{REG}:T_{EFF} ratios than their NOD counterparts (0.21 ± 0.01 vs. 0.13 ± 0.01 , p=0.018; Fig. 6C). As a whole, these data demonstrate that diabetes resistance is not due to an increase in T_{REG} cell numbers in the thymus, peripheral immune system or pancreas of NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. Instead, the protective Idd3 allele decreases the accumulation of T_{EFF} cells in the pancreas which correlates with an increased T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio.

The protective Idd3 allele delays the accumulation of islet-reactive T_{EFF} cells in the pLN and pancreas

Our data demonstrate that the protective Idd3 allele favours high T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios within *in vitro* activated CD4⁺ T cells. The requirement for T cell activation in the Idd3-mediated control of CD4⁺ T cell function, would explain why the pancreas, which contains exclusively islet-reactive cells, is the only organ with a difference in the T_{REG}: T_{EFF} ratio when comparing NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. Thus, it is likely that the protective Idd3 allele will predominantly influence the behaviour of activated cells in vivo. Therefore, in order to determine the effects of the B6-derived *Idd3* locus on a diabetogenic population of CD4⁺ T cells, we generated BDC.Idd3 mice by crossing BDC2.5 and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. This novel strain of mice is homozygous for the protective B6-derived Idd3 allele and possesses a monoclonal population of TCR transgenic islet-specific CD4⁺ T cells. Since BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice contain high frequencies of islet-reactive T cells in their immune system, we wanted to determine the effect of the Idd3 locus on the accumulation of T_{EFF} cells in the pLN and pancreas of these TCR transgenic mice. Islet-reactive CD4⁺ T cells in BDC2.5 mice were shown to become activated in the pLN and start to infiltrate into the pancreas at approximately 18 days after birth (147). Therefore, we looked at 3-4 week old weanlings which were presumably in the early stages of insulitis. As a reference point, we also looked at 8 week old adult BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice to determine any differences caused by prolonged insulitis. Thus, mice were sacrificed and various organs were harvested in order to assess the frequency of transgenic T_{EFF} and T_{REG} cells by flow cytometry. Much like our observations in non-transgenic mice, no differences were detected in the thymus, spleen and peripheral lymph nodes of BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice (data not shown). Interestingly, in the pLNs of 4 wk old BDC.Idd3 mice, T_{EFF} cells were present at higher frequencies (54.4 \pm 4.0 % vs. 63.6 \pm 2.0 %, p=0.003; Fig. 7A) and total numbers $(3.24 \pm 0.44 \times 10^6 \text{ vs. } 2.02 \pm 0.41 \times 10^6, \text{ p}=0.013)$ compared to BDC2.5 mice. Although this did not correlate with increased T_{REG} frequencies, BDC.Idd3 mice did show a statistically significant increase in the T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio (Fig. 7A). It should be noted that this trend did not persist, since by 8 weeks of age, BDC.Idd3 mice show similar levels of total T_{EFF} cells in the pLN (Fig. 7A). Nevertheless, slightly increased T_{REG} cell frequencies in the pLN of 8 week old BDC.Idd3 mice lead to a higher T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio compared to BDC2.5 mice.

In the pancreas, a similar trend was observed regarding T_{EFF} cells since 4 week old BDC.Idd3 mice show lower levels of infiltrating T_{EFF} cells compared to BDC2.5 mice, correlating with an elevated T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio but not the increased frequency of T_{REG} cells (Fig. 7B). Similar to the pLN, older BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice show comparable levels of T_{EFF} cells in the pancreas. Nevertheless the T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio, albeit reduced in older mice, remained significantly higher in BDC.Idd3 pancreata (Fig. 7B far right). Interestingly, even though the pancreatic infiltrate is comparable between the two mouse strains at 8 weeks of age, the BDC.Idd3 mice show very low onset of diabetes at only 5% by 26 wk of age (n=20). Thus, these findings suggest that the protective *Idd3* allele maintains the increased T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios within a population of T_{EFF} cells. This, in turn, leads to the delayed pancreatic infiltration of T_{EFF} cells in BDC.Idd3 mice. Therefore, within a monoclonal islet-specific population of CD4⁺ T cells, the *Idd3* allele appears to modulate the kinetics of the autoimmune response.

Presence of the protective Idd3 locus decreases proliferation of diabetogenic T_{EFF} cells in the pLNs.

Since adult NOD.B6 *Idd3* and young BDC.Idd3 mice show reduced numbers of T_{EFF} cells in the pancreas, this intimated one of two possibilities: either impaired T_{EFF} function or enhanced immunoregulation. To address this first possibility and evaluate the impact of a protective *Idd3* locus on the pathogenic potential of a T_{EFF} cell *in vivo*, lymphocytes were prepared from peripheral LNs and spleens of 8-10 wk old BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice and depleted of CD25⁺ cells via magnetic bead cell sorting. The CD25-depleted cells were then CFSElabelled and transferred into 8 wk old NOD or NOD.B6 *Idd3* recipients (22, 168). Depletion of CD25⁺ cells was important to ensure the absence of immunoregulation amongst the transferred cells. When recipients were sacrificed 4 days after adoptive transfer of CFSE-labelled cells, we observed the abundant proliferation of BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells in the pLN of NOD recipients (Fig. 8A) but not in other peripheral LNs which do not drain the pancreas (data not shown). Since the BDC2.5 CD4⁺ T cells recognize an islet-derived antigen, localized cell division in the pLN confirms that proliferation is antigen-specific. Similarly, the BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells also proliferated abundantly in the pLN but not other LNs of NOD recipients. In fact, both proliferation (Fig. 8A) and accumulation (Fig. 8B) of BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells in the pLNs were similar to BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells when transferred into NOD mice. Hence, these findings clearly illustrate the intact function of BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells and demonstrate that the protective *Idd3* allele does not impede the pathogenic potential of autoreactive T_{EFF} cells.

To determine whether the *Idd3* allele of recipient mice influenced immunoregulatory mechanisms *in vivo*, BDC2.5 or BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells were transferred into NOD.B6 *Idd3* recipient mice. Our results demonstrate a significant reduction in the antigen-driven proliferation of both BDC2.5 (p=0.024) and BDC.Idd3 (p=0.033) T_{EFF} cells in the pLNs of NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice (Fig. 8A). Additionally, NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice were more efficient at reducing the total accumulation of pathogenic CFSE-labelled T_{EFF} cells present in the pLN (Fig. 8B). Our results also show that BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cell proliferation was not more efficiently suppressed than BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells in NOD.B6 *Idd3* recipients. This suggests that presence of the B6-derived *Idd3* allele in the transferred T_{EFF} cells, which can promote higher IL-2 expression, is not capable of increasing immunoregulatory mechanisms in the recipients. Instead, suppression of islet-reactive T_{EFF} cells is strictly dependent on the presence of the protective *Idd3* allele in recipient mice.

The protective Idd3 allele increases T_{REG} suppressive function in vivo, which is responsible for reduced diabetes onset

· ·

Since NOD.B6 Idd3 mice possess an environment which can limit the control of diabetogenic T cells more efficiently than wild-type NOD mice, it is likely that that T_{REG} cells are key mediators of disease protection. Therefore, it was important to determine whether T_{REG} cells originating from mice containing the protective Idd3 allele were better suppressors of diabetogenic T_{EFF} cells in vivo. To accomplish this, $CD4^+$ total and $CD4^+CD25^-$ (T_{EFF}) cells were purified from 6-8 week old BDC2.5 or BDC.Idd3 mice and transferred into T cell-deficient NOD.TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ recipients. When comparing diabetes frequency in the recipients of BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells (Fig. 9A), it was observed that the Idd3 allele did not affect diabetogenic potential of the T_{EFF} cells in vivo. Our data show that onset occurred simultaneously between day 7 and 9 and with similar incidence in both groups of recipient mice (Fig. 9A). When various lymphoid organs and pancreas were harvested from diabetic recipients at day 15 post-transfer, flow cytometric analysis revealed similar frequencies and total numbers of transferred BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells in recipient mice (data not shown). These findings once again highlight the inability of the Idd3 allele to directly dampen the diabetogenic potential of T_{EFF} cells in vivo. When total $CD4^+$ T cells were transferred into NOD.TCR α^{-1} recipients, 71% of the recipients receiving BDC2.5 cells developed diabetes compared to only 43% for BDC.Idd3. Whereas the BDC.Idd3 CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells within the CD4⁺ population were capable of reducing diabetes incidence by ~50% (82% vs. 43%), the presence of BDC2.5 CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells barely reduced diabetes frequency (88% vs. 71%). Since the frequency of Foxp3⁺ cells within the BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 CD4⁺T cells was similar prior to transfer (data not shown), these findings suggests a functional difference in the T_{REG} population. However, it was essential to compare the ability of BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells to suppress the same T_{EFF} cell population in this model of T1D. Thus, BDC2.5 CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells were purified and transferred at physiological ratios ($1T_{REG}$ for 10 T_{EFF} cells) with T_{EFF} cells from

BDC.Idd3 mice. Similarly, another group of recipient mice received BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells transferred with BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells. Interestingly, diabetes onset revealed that the origin of the T_{REG} cell influences disease progression rather than the origin of the T_{EFF} cell since BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells co-transferred with BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells induced diabetes in only 30% of recipients. Conversely, BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells co-transferred with BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells induced diabetes in 71% of recipient mice, similar to what we observed for BDC2.5 CD4⁺cells. Thus, taken together, these findings indicate that BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells are intrinsically better than their BDC2.5 counterparts, due to their maturation in the presence of the protective *Idd3* locus.

To better elucidate differences in T_{REG} cell suppressor function, recipients were sacrificed at day 15 and various lymphoid organs were analyzed by flow cytometry to monitor CD4^+ T cell frequency and T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios in the pLN and pancreas. Surprisingly, the adoptively transferred T_{EFF} cells from both strains, which were depleted of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells, developed a population of $CD4^{+}Foxp3^{+}$ cells by day 15, representing 7-15% of total $CD4^{+}V\beta4^{+}$ T cells. These Foxp3⁺ cells, which probably originate from the undepleted CD4⁺CD25⁻ $Foxp3^+$ population (109, 111), expanded in the immunodeficient recipients but ultimately were unable to control disease progression. Since the diabetic recipients of BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells showed virtually no differences in $CD4^{+}$ T cell frequency or T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios, values were pooled and used as a reference when comparing all other groups of recipient mice having received T_{REG} cells (Fig. 9B). When we examined the pLN of all recipient mice, we could not detect any significant differences in the overall frequency (Fig. 9B, top left) or numbers (data not shown) of $CD4^+V\beta4^+$ T cells. In the pancreas, our data show that diabetes resistance correlates with a 50% decrease in the frequency of infiltrating CD4⁺V β 4⁺ T cells (Fig. 9B, top right). Interestingly, whereas BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells only reduced CD4⁺ T cell infiltration in the pancreas of diabetesresistant mice, BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells reduced $\text{CD4}^{+}\ T$ cell infiltration in all recipients (Fig. 9B, top right). In addition, when comparing the T_{REG}:T_{EFF} ratios in diabetes resistant mice, recipients of BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells always show higher ratios than recipients of BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells in both the pLN and pancreas, suggesting increased T_{REG} cell suppression of the T_{EFF} cells (Fig.9, bottom). Thus, these findings demonstrate the increased suppressor function of BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells in the pLN and pancreas, resulting in elevated T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios and increased protection from diabetes.

. · ·

Discussion and Future Directions

T1D is a polygenetic disease and several *Idd* genetic loci have been shown to predispose the NOD mice to autoimmunity. The most influential of these is the I-A^{g7} MHC class II locus, however several others have been identified to date (169). Thus far, the Idd3 locus is clearly one of the most influential genetic regions for diabetes susceptibility. This is apparent in the NOD.B6 Idd3 mice which contain a protective Idd3 allele and show a marked reduction in diabetes onset compared to wild type NOD mice (Fig. 3A, (159)). The Il-2 gene is present within the *Idd3* locus and is a strong candidate for diabetes resistance (160, 167). Since IL-2 is known to promote T_{REG} cell homeostasis and suppressive function (123, 124, 127, 133, 134) and since T_{REG} cells have been directly linked to diabetes suppression (148, 149, 170), we hypothesized that increased diabetes protection in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice is T_{REG} cell-dependent. The involvement of IL-2 in the *Idd3* allele-mediated resistance to diabetes was proposed but never shown. Therefore, the first part of this study focused on differences in IL-2 production between NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. The second portion of this study focused on the effect of the protective *Idd3* allele on T_{REG} cell development, homeostasis and function. To date, at least one other study has demonstrated increased immunological tolerance in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice compared to wild-type NOD mice, however the underlying mechanisms for enhanced immunotolerance were not investigated (165).

Since T_{EFF} cells were identified as the main producers of IL-2 *in vivo* (127), it was important to determine whether the *Idd3* locus could directly influence the expression of this cytokine in activated T_{EFF} cells. Our findings demonstrate that highly purified CD4⁺CD25⁻ T_{EFF} cells containing the B6 *Idd3* allele, once activated, consistently expressed augmented levels of IL-2 mRNA and protein. Since IL-2 is a well described T cell growth factor, the increased proliferation of NOD.B6 *Idd3* T_{EFF} cells compared to their NOD counterparts, is

consistent with increased levels of this cytokine. However, our results are in contradiction with another study showing no difference in IL-2 expression between NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice (160) although several reasons may explain this apparent discrepancy. First, IL-2 mRNA was quantified within unfractionated splenocytes and since $CD4^+$ T cells only represent ~20% of spleen cells, this undoubtedly decreases the sensitivity of their assay. Second, in this previous study, splenocytes were activated using PMA and ionomycin, independently of the TCR, which renders these findings irrelevant in a physiological context. Third, the authors of this study only looked at 4h post activation and we have shown that differences are only apparent starting 24h after T cell activation. Finally, this study did not look at differences in IL-2 protein production in activated splenocytes. In support of our findings, other published data indirectly suggest a possible difference in IL-2 expression between protective and susceptible Idd3 alleles. First, the Il-2 promoter from the protective Idd3 allele does possess some sequence variants, which may directly influence IL-2 synthetic rates at the transcriptional and translational levels (160, 163). Second, differences in NOD and C56BL/6 Il-2 genes ultimately lead to differential glycosylation of the IL-2 molecule which can affect protein folding and may increase the cytokine's half-life or affinity for its receptor (163). Therefore, in our experiments, increased IL-2 mRNA expression by NOD.B6 Idd3 T_{EFF} cells after 24h may be the consequence of increased IL-2R signalling by a more "potent" IL-2. This would fuel a positive feedback loop, leading to increased Il-2 gene expression. Thus, our findings show differential IL-2 gene expression and protein production by activated T_{EFF} cells of NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 origin however the exact cause for this difference still needs to be determined.

Since IL-2 is important for T_{REG} cell homeostasis and function, higher levels of this cytokine *in vivo* may be the direct cause for diabetes protection in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice. In fact, T cells in the peripheral immune system of NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice were shown to have higher expression of the β - (CD122) and γ -(CD132) chains of the IL-2 receptor, reflecting possible differences in IL-2

activity in vivo (161). However, if NOD.B6 Idd3 mice produce increased levels of IL-2, our data demonstrate that this does not translate into increased numbers of T_{REG} cells in the peripheral immune system. Nonetheless, flow cytometric analysis of central and peripheral lymphoid organs revealed reduced progression of diabetes in the presence of the B6-derived Idd3 allele. First, the NOD.B6 Idd3 mice show a significant reduction in the frequency of T_{EFF} cells in the pancreatic islets. Also, these mice appear to have a reduced accumulation of T_{H1} differentiated cells in the pLN, LNs and spleen. This decrease in T_{H1} cells did not correlate with a reduction in the frequency of activated T_{EFF} cells expressing either CD25 or CD69 in the pLNs, suggesting that self-reactive T_{EFF} cells are still present in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice but are restrained in their pathogenic potential. This excludes the possibility of increased clonal deletion in the thymus as a mechanism for diabetes protection in these mice. Also, since the protective *Idd3* allele did not completely prevent islet-infiltration of T_{EFF} cells or inhibit T_{H1} cell accumulation, it appears as though NOD.B6 Idd3 mice are protected from the late stages of the autoimmune response. When applying our findings to the two checkpoint model of diabetes progression, the protective Idd3 allele does not appear to affect checkpoint 1 or the establishment of peri-insulitis. Instead, the Idd3 locus most likely influences the transition from checkpoint1 to checkpoint 2 (overt diabetes).

A hallmark of reduced diabetes progression in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice is the high T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio in the pancreas. Interestingly, the increased ratios in the pancreas are not due to augmented T_{REG} cell frequencies. Rather, the high proportion of Foxp3⁺ cells within the CD4⁺ population appears to be the consequence of either reduced infiltration or decreased proliferation of T_{EFF} cells in the pancreatic islets. Similarly, our *in vitro* findings demonstrate higher T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios in NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺ T cells than NOD CD4⁺ T cells subsequent to TCR activation. Our CFSE dilution analysis of these in vitro activated cells indicates that higher T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios are not due to increased proliferation of NOD.B6 *Idd3* T_{REG} cells. Instead, T_{EFF} cell proliferation is reduced due to superior immunosuppression within the NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺ T

cells. Thus, the most likely cause for the pancreas-specific increase in T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio is the presence of activated islet-reactive NOD.B6 Idd3 T_{EFF} cells in the insulitic lesion producing high levels of IL-2 which favour T_{REG} cell function and reduced T_{EFF} cell accumulation. Since the T_{EFF} cells present in the LNs and spleen of mice are most likely not producing IL-2 to the magnitude of islet-reactive T cells in the pancreas, this would justify the lack of increased T_{REG}:T_{EFF} ratios throughout the peripheral immune system. Surprisingly, the pLNs of NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice did not show higher frequencies of T_{REG} cells. However, this may be due to the low prevalence of self-reactive T cells within total lymphocytes, rendering any differences undetectable by our means of analysis. When we compared a larger population of self-reactive CD4⁺ T cells in the BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice, the protective Idd3 allele did increase T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios in both the pLN and pancreas. Thus, these findings suggest the B6-derived Idd3 allele increases the ability of T_{REG} cells to dominate an activated population of T_{EFF} cells at the site of antigen encounter. However, this localized dominance of T_{REG} cells suggests two possibilities for diabetes resistance in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice: the decreased pathogenic potential of T_{EFF} cells or increased immunoregulation.

We were able to determine that the protective *Idd3* allele does not directly impede T_{EFF} cell function or pathogenic potential. The first evidence of this comes from the similar proliferation of CFSE-labelled BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells transferred into NOD mice. Since no difference could be detected, this demonstrates the inability of the *Idd3* locus to influence the antigen-driven proliferation of T_{EFF} cells. Moreover, the adoptive transfer of BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells into TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ NOD mice induced diabetes at frequencies comparable to BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells. This suggests that the *Idd3* locus does not reduce the pathogenic potential of self-reactive T cells. Additional *in vitro* assays also disprove the possibility of reduced T_{EFF} cell function since NOD.B6 *Idd3* T_{EFF} cells proliferate more than their NOD counterparts. Similarly, our preliminary data suggest that BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells stimulated with peptide mimicking their natural antigen proliferate more abundantly than BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells (data not shown). Thus,

diabetes protection in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice is unlikely to be caused by the reduced pathogenic potential of T_{EFF} cells.

Our findings clearly show the NOD.B6 Idd3 mice possess increased immunoregulatory mechanisms compared to NOD mice. In vitro, the CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells present at physiological ratios within pre-diabetic NOD.B6 Idd3 CD4⁺ T cells reduced the proliferation of T_{EFF} cells by at least 50%. In stark contrast, T_{REG} cells present within NOD CD4⁺ T cells only suppressed proliferation of T_{EFF} cells by 6-7%, demonstrating inefficient function of the T_{REG} cells at physiological ratios. Evidence of poor immunoregulation was also apparent in vivo, where CFSE-labelled BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells proliferated abundantly in the pLNs of NOD mice. NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice, on the other hand, were much more efficient at limiting the antigen-driven proliferation of these BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells in the pLNs. Our findings support previously published data assessing the proliferation of CFSElabelled 8.3 transgenic islet-reactive CD8⁺ T cells transferred into NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice (161). Similar to the BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells, the 8.3 CD8⁺ T cells showed little proliferation in the pLN of NOD.B6 Idd3 recipients compared to wild-type NOD recipients. Similarly, a second study showed that transfer of isletreactive CD8⁺ T cells into double congenic NOD.B6 Idd3/Idd5 mice failed to proliferate in the pLN (168). Interestingly, when anti-CD25 blocking antibody was used to deplete $CD4^+CD25^+$ T_{REG} cells in recipient mice prior to transfer of islet reactive CD8⁺ T cells, NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3/Idd5 showed similar accumulation and proliferation of CD8⁺ T cells in the pLN. This study demonstrated that T_{REG} cells were responsible for enhanced immunoregulation in the NOD.B6 Idd3/Idd5 mice. Although our findings do not directly implicate T_{REG} cells for the increased suppression of BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells in the pLN of NOD.B6 Idd3 mice, their involvement is quite probable.

It was important to determine whether increased immunoregulation in the presence of the B6-derived *Idd3* allele was due to intrinsically better T_{REG} cells or due to T_{EFF} cells which are better inducers of T_{REG} cell suppressive function. Our

findings demonstrate that a "more suppressible" population of T_{EFF} cells is not responsible for *Idd3* allele-mediated diabetes protection. If this was the case, then CFSE-labelled BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells would have proliferated less than BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells when transferred in either NOD or NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. Since the proliferation the CFSE-labelled T_{EFF} cells was dependent on the strain of recipient mice, rather than the origin of the donor cells, this excludes the possibility of more suppressible T_{EFF} cells. Instead, it appears as though peripheral tolerance mechanisms in the recipient mice are responsible for diabetes resistance. In order to determine whether increased T_{REG} suppressor function was responsible for increased peripheral tolerance in NOD.B6 *Idd3*, we utilized a highly synchronous antigen-specific model of T1D. The transfer of BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells into immunodeficient mice induces diabetes with a mean onset of 8 days post transfer. Therefore by purifying CD4⁺ total, T_{EFF} and T_{REG} cells from both BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice it was possible to perform various crisscross transfer experiments in order to determine if T_{REG} cells from mice containing the protective Idd3 allele were intrinsically better suppressors of T1D. Although BDC2.5 mice show low onset of diabetes, transfer of transgenic CD4⁺ T cells into immunodeficient hosts can induce diabetes quite efficiently. Since lymphopenia is a known catalyst of autoimmune disease (161), it is thought that the absence of lymphocytes in the immunodeficient recipients may be responsible for elevated diabetes onset in BDC2.5 CD4⁺ T cell recipients. Whereas the transfer of BDC2.5 CD4⁺ T cells from 6-8 week old mice caused diabetes in 71% of recipients, co-transfer of BDC2.5 T_{EFF} cells and BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells caused diabetes in only 31% of recipients. Since the T_{EFF} population is the same in these two groups of recipients, reduced diabetes onset can be directly attributed to increased suppressor function of the BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} cells. Similarly, 43% of BDC.Idd3 $CD4^+$ T cell recipients progressed to overt diabetes compared to 71% of BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells + BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells recipients. Once again the T_{EFF} cell population is the same in both groups, and the BDC.Idd3 T_{REG} repeatedly display increased suppressor function. Additionally, since transfer of BDC2.5 CD4⁺ T cells and co-transfer of BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cells + BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells into recipients caused similar diabetes onset, the hypothesis of the protective *Idd3* allele inducing "more suppressible" T_{EFF} cells seems unlikely. Taken together, our findings demonstrate that the protective *Idd3* allele directly increases the intrinsic suppressor function of the T_{REG} population.

A recent study demonstrated that BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells suppressed late stages of diabetes, namely the progression from peri-insulitis to destructive insulitis (149). Interestingly, early stages of diabetes such as T_{EFF} cell activation and antigen driven proliferation of T_{EFF} cells were not affected by T_{REG} cellmediated immunoregulation. In accordance with these findings, our data show the suppression of late stages of diabetes in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice, suggestive of enhanced T_{REG} cell function. In vivo, the NOD.B6 Idd3 mice contain CD69^+ and $CD25^+$ T_{EFF} cells in the pLN and immune cell infiltration of the pancreas. However, the increased suppressor function of T_{REG} cells appears to maintain steady-state insulitis whereas NOD mice progress to overt diabetes. The increased T_{REG}:T_{EFF} ratio exclusively in the pancreas of pre-diabetic NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice also supports previous findings demonstrating that BDC2.5 T_{REG} cells are functionally superior in the pancreatic lesion than in the pLN (148, 149). These studies imply that an inflamed target tissue may imprint T_{REG} cells with a distinct functional program. In accordance with these previous studies, the increased T_{REG} cell suppressor function in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice induces a highly localized dominance of T_{REG} cells over T_{EFF} cells in the pancreatic islets. Taken together, our findings highlight the importance of the Idd3 locus in the susceptibility to T1D since it reduces T_{REG} cell potency in NOD mice. This ultimately leads to the inability of NOD T_{REG} cells to adequately suppress the naturally arising selfreactive T_{EFF} cells in the immune system. Nevertheless, since NOD.B6 Idd3 mice do not show complete protection form T1D, this reflects the complex polygenetic dysregulations underlying disease susceptibility.

Although it is it is reasonable to conclude that IL-2 is responsible for these reported differences in T_{REG} function, a direct demonstration is still necessary. Furthermore, since the *II-21* gene is also present in the *Idd3* locus, it is possible

that differential expression of this cytokine may also be involved in diabetes protection (161). It is likely that the increased tolerance observed in NOD.B6 Idd3 mice may reflect a synergistic effect of differential *Il-2* and *Il-21* gene expression compared to NOD mice. Although King et al. reported lymphopenia in 12 week old NOD but not NOD.B6 Idd3 mice (161), we were unable to detect any differences in absolute numbers of CD4⁺ T cells when comparing either NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice or BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice. This study also reported the reduced proliferation of CFSE-labelled islet-specific cells in the pLN of NOD.B6 Idd3 mice compared to wild-type NOD mice. However, King et al. base the increased proliferation of cells in NOD mice to mild lymphopenia which fuels the expansion of the transferred cells. It should be noted that King *et al.* used 12 week old NOD recipients which are apparently lymphopenic, whereas we used younger non-lymphopenic 8 week old NOD recipients (161). Nevertheless, we cannot fully discount the possibility of varying lymphopenia in recipient mice as a cause for different proliferation of T_{EFF} cells in NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* recipients. Thus, dysregulation of IL-2 and IL-21 in NOD mice may independently contribute to the loss of self-tolerance.

To directly identify IL-2 as the cause of this differential tolerance, a NOD.IL-2^{B6} knock-in mouse would need to be generated, in which the entire NOD genome is intact except for the *Il-2* gene originating from the C57BL/6 mouse strain. If this mouse shows reduced diabetes onset and increased T_{REG} cell function, then IL-2 can be confirmed as a cause for increased tolerance. If this is the case, then it would be interesting to compare the effects of NOD- and C57BL/6-derived IL-2 on IL-2 receptor signalling in NOD T_{REG} cells. Monitoring the phophorylation of STAT-5 will reveal whether the C57BL/6-derived IL-2 is a more potent inducer of IL-2 receptor signalling. This will be important in determining whether the protective *Idd3* allele encodes a qualitatively superior IL-2 molecule or whether the *Il2* gene is more readily expressed. Alternatively, the routine administration of anti-IL-21 neutralizing antibody or anti-IL-21R (receptor) blocking antibody in both NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice, followed by a

comparative analysis of T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios in the pancreas may also help determine whether IL-2 is responsible for increased T_{REG} cell function.

The findings in this study demonstrate a clear role for T_{REG} cells in the protection conferred by the B6-derived Idd3 allele. However, the direct impact of this genetic locus on T_{REG} cell function still remains unknown. It is possible that the B6-derived Idd3 allele, which contains IL-2, induces either a better survival of T_{REG} cells or the enhancement of their suppressive function. To determine any differences in T_{REG} homeostasis, it would be interesting to inject NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice with BrdU, a pyrimidine analogue of thymidine, which is selectively incorporated into dividing cells. Using a BrdU-specific monoclonal antibody, it would be possible to monitor the percentage of proliferating T_{REG} cells within various organs. This would reveal whether NOD.B6 Idd3 mice possess more actively proliferating T_{REG} cells than NOD mice. If this is the case, it would demonstrate the enhanced homeostasis and better "fitness" of the T_{REG} cells in the presence of the protective *Idd3* allele. Also, given the ability of IL-2 to upregulate genes involved in T_{REG} cell growth and metabolism (124), it would be interesting to use DNA microarray technology to compare genes expressed in freshly isolated T_{REG} cells from NOD and NOD.B6 Idd3 mice. This type of comparative analysis may also reveal differential expression of various suppression-related genes such as Il-10, Tgfb or Ctla4 (124, 148). This would help explain how the B6-derived *Idd3* alleles can render T_{REG} cells intrinsically better. Also, it will be important to eventually compare how the Idd3 locus modulates T_{REG} cell-mediated suppression of the various steps leading to T1D. For this purpose, the adoptive transfer model will be an important tool since transferring CFSE-labelled islet-reactive cells will allow the tracking of T_{EFF} cell proliferation at early time points. By looking at early time points post-transfer, it will be possible to monitor how BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 TREG cells differ in their ability to suppress activation, proliferation and accumulation of T_{EFF} cells. This may also help answer whether high T_{REG}:T_{EFF} ratios in the pancreas of NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice control the infiltration of additional T_{EFF} cells into the islets or the proliferation of T_{EFF} cells already present.

In conclusion, this study has determined that the *Idd3* allele can influence murine T_{REG} cell suppressor function but not frequency in vivo. Although the protective *Idd3* allele increases IL-2 production in activated T_{EFF} cells, the T_{REG} cells are intrinsically better suppressors of proliferation and diabetes onset. Moreover, protection from T1D in NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice correlates with increased T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios exclusively in the pancreas, at the site of tissue destruction. The data presented will undoubtedly help in understanding the impact of allelic variance on T_{REG} cell suppressor function and how its influence on progression of autoimmune diseases. If IL-2 is linked to our observed increase of T_{REG} cell function, these findings may help elucidate the role of the *CD25* gene in human susceptibility to T1D. If the IL-2 signaling pathway is an important determinant in both murine and human T1D, our findings may ultimately help develop novel therapies for patients afflicted with autoimmune diabetes.

Figures and Tables





FIGURE 2. Factors responsible for pathogenic T_{EFF} cells in NOD mice





FIGURE 3. Adult NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice show reduced diabetes and halted disease progression compared to wild-type NOD mice.

A, Onset of diabetes in our colony of NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice (n=20). B, Frequency of CD4⁺ T cells which were IFN- γ^+ in the various lymphoid organs of pre-diabetic 12 week old mice as determined by intracellular staining (average and standard deviation). Values represent pooled values from two independent experiments (n = 5). *p < 0.01



.....

FIGURE 4. NOD.B6 *Idd3* CD4⁺CD25⁻ T_{EFF} cells show increased expression of IL-2.

A, CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells isolated from 3-4 week old NOD (black bars) or NOD.B6 *Idd3* (white bars) mice were activated using plate-bound anti-CD3 and harvested at various time points. RNA was extracted from the cell samples and analyzed for IL-2 expression using semi-quantitative RT-PCR. Normalized values were obtained by densiometric analysis of bands present on the agarose gel and represent the IL-2 to G3 ratios for each lane. Data representative of five independent experiments comparing freshly sorted NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* T cells. B, Intracellular staining of freshly purified CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells 24h after PMA/ ionomycin activation. Data representative of three separate experiments comparing freshly sorted T cells.



FIGURE 5. The *Idd3* locus affects the T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratio subsequent to activation of CD4⁺ T cells.

A, Proliferation of 5 x 10^4 T cells isolated from 3-4 week old NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice, activated using 1µg/ml of soluble anti-CD3 and 2 x 10^5 irradiated splenocytes, as assessed by thymidine incorporation at 72h. Data shown is the average of triplicate wells and representative of three independent experiments. B, Fold increase of Foxp3⁺ cells within purified CFSE-labeled CD4⁺ T cells (2.5 x 10^5) subsequent to activation using 1µg/ml of soluble anti-CD3 and irradiated splenocytes (1 x 10^6). Data representative of four independent experiments. * p < 0.01, †p < 0.05








B





. مر

Д

FIGURE 6. The protective *Idd3* locus does not increase the overall frequency or absolute number of T_{REG} cells.

. -

·~~`,

Frequency of CD4⁺Foxp3⁻ T_{EFF} cells (A) and CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T_{REG} cells (C) amongst total lymphocytes in various organs. Absolute number of T_{EFF} (B) and T_{REG} (D) cells as assessed by multiplying the total number of cells in each lymphoid organ with the frequency of the specific subset. Values represent the average of three mice and data representative of 3 independent experiments. $\dagger p < 0.05$



Pancreatic LNs

B

0

4 wk

Age

8 wk

.

0-4 wk 8 wk



BDC2.5 BDC.Idd3

Age

FIGURE 7. Young BDC.Idd3 transgenic mice show delayed accumulation and activation of T_{EFF} cells in the pLN and infiltration into the pancreas.

Frequency of T_{EFF} (CD4⁺Foxp3⁻) cells and T_{REG} (CD4⁺Foxp3⁺) cells amongst total lymphocytes in the pLN (A) and pancreas (B) of 4w old (n= 4 per strain) or 8w old (n=9 per strain) BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice. The corresponding T_{REG} : T_{EFF} ratios were calculated using the total frequency of each cell type within the organ. * p < 0.01, †p < 0.05

CFSE

B



_

FIGURE 8. The NOD.B6 *Idd3* mice are better suppressors of islet-reactive T_{EFF} cells in the pancreatic lymph nodes.

A, BDC2.5 or BDC.Idd3 lymphocytes were depleted of $CD25^+$ cells by magnetic bead cell-sorting, CFSE-labelled and 8 x 10⁶ CD4 cells were adoptively transferred into NOD or NOD.Idd3 recipients. The pancreatic LNs were harvested four days later and proliferation of CFSE-labeled $CD4^+V\beta4^+$ T cells was determined. B, Absolute number of CFSE-labeled $CD4^+V\beta4^+$ T cells present in the pancreatic lymph node of recipient mice.(n=3-4 mice/group, representative of 3 separate experiments) # p<0.02



FIGURE 9. BDC.Idd3 CD4⁺ T cells are less pathogenic than BDC2.5 CD4⁺ T cells when transferred into immunodeficient mice and this is due to increased suppressor function of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T_{REG} cells.

5 x 10^5 purified T cells from 6-8 wk old BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 mice were adoptively transferred into NOD.TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice in various combinations and diabetes incidence was monitored every 2 days (A). At day 15, mice from each group were sacrificed and various organs were screened using flow cytometry to monitor T_{REG} and T_{EFF} cell frequency (B). Values shown reflect the fold modulation of cell frequencies relative to the pooled values of diabetic BDC2.5 and BDC.Idd3 T_{EFF} cell recipients.

TABLE 1. Congenic regions influencing type 1 diabetes susceptibility inhumans (modified from (171))

Human locus and chromosome location	Candidate causal variant	Functional phenotype of susceptibility allele
HLA class II, 6p21	HLA-DO/DR	Major role of peptide-binding pocket P1, P4 and P9 in
<i>Insulin</i> , 11p15.5	Probably insulin	VNTR class I associated with
	VNTR class I	decreased thymic insulin expression
CTLA4, 2q33	CT60 (+6 230G>A,	Allele A associated with increased
	rs3087243)	levels of soluble CTLA-4
PTPN22, 1p13	Arg620Trp	Trp620 unable to bind to CSK
	(+1 858C>T,	 The second dynamic second s Second second s Second second sec second second sec
si sectore de la construcción de la	m9476601)	n ya ku ya ngana a ya ku na ku na Na ku na k

 TABLE 2. Comparison of insulin-dependent diabetes in humans and NOD
 mice (modified from (10))

Characteristie	Humans	NOD mice
Genetic predisposition (MHC class II linkage)	+	+
Complex polygenic control	+	+
Environmental effects on gene penetrance	Probable	+
Disease transmissible via bone marrow	+	+
T-lymphocyte-driven insulitic lesions	+	+
Leucocytic infiltrates found in other organs	Sometimes	+
Defective peripheral immunoregulation	+	+
Humoral reactivity to beta cells	+	+
Endogenous retroviral genes expressed in beta cells	_	+
Diabetic ketoacidosis if untreated	+	Mild
Sex bias	-	+
Successful intervention therapies	In progress	+

	_	Cytokine administration	Antibody Treatment	Knockout mice	Localized expression in the β islets cells
	IFN-y		prevents diabetes	delays diabetes	accelerates diabetes
TH1 cytokines	TNF-α		prevention or delay of diabetes		prevents diabetes
	IL-12	Accelerates diabetes		no effect on diabetes	
TH2	IL-4	Prevents diabetes		no effect on diabetes	prevents diabetes
cytokines	IL-10	Prevents diabetes		no effect on diabetes	accelerates diabetes

TABLE 3. Impact of various cytokines on diabetes progression in NOD mice.

TABLE	4.	Congenic	regions	affecting	T1D	susceptibility	in	NOD	mice
(modified	d fr	rom (171))							

NOD locus	Chr.	interval size*	Number of genes ^b	Candidate genes	Known gene function
ídd5.1	1	2.1 Mb	** 4	Ctla4	Negative T cell regulator
1005.2	4	1.52 Mb	45	Nramp1/Sic11a1	Endosomal/lysosomal acidification
10013	2	6 cM (H3a-II1 interval)	NR	B2m	 Required for antigen presentation by MHC class I molecules
1003	3	0.78 Mb	8	112 1121	T cell development and homeostasis
idd17	3	1.1 cM	NR	NR	
lod10	3	0.95 Mb	7	Cd101	Constimulatory recentor of T cells
10018	3	0.7 Mb	2	Vax3	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor involved in signaling of T and B cell receptors
ldæ6	6	10 cM	NR	NK complex; Lmp, Bcat1, Kras2	limate immune system; control cell proliferation
1009.1	4	39 cM	NR	Lck	T cell responsiveness
ldd11ª	4	13 cM	NR	NR	NR
1009.2	4	3.7 Mb	13	NR	Candidate tumour suppressor gene
1009.3	4	1.2 Mb		4-1bb	Role in enhancing and regulating multiple immune cell types
1004	11	5.2 cM	NR	PAF-AHIb1 Nos2 CC chemokines	Inflammatory responses
lcici14	13	>58 cM	NR	NB	
14423	17	~20 Mh	NR	NP	
idd16	17	3.1 Mb	37	Mapk13 Mapk14 Class I K	Cell signaling, antigen presentation
ldd1	17	NR	NR	Class II A and E	Anticen cresentation
10024	17	121 Mb	NB	NR	NR STRATT
Abbreviations ^a On average ^b Where not ^c HI Fraser e ^d <i>Edd</i> 9.1 and	a: Chr, ch a, each m reported, t al., unpi icidi 1 an	romosome; NR, r egabase (Mb) is a on average 1 Mb ublished. s probably the sa	not reported. approximately () has 5-25 gene me <i>Idd</i> locus.	1.5 centimorgan (cM). 199 Continorgan (cM).	And ACTIVE STREAM STREAM AND ADDRESS AN

			Number of cell divisions							
		0	5	6						
Gate: CD4+	NOD	2.20%	5.50%	17.80%	15.60%	25.70%	24.40%	7.30%		
	NOD.B6/dd3	2.10%	5.70%	20%	17.50%	26.90%	20.80%	5.60%		

			Number of cell divisions								
		0	1	2	3	4	5	6			
Gate:	NOD	1.80%	4.30%	17.90%	28%	29.10%	12.20%	1.75%			
Foxp3+	NOD.B6 Idd3	1.13%	4.65%	20.90%	28.10%	28.30%	11.70%	1.35%			

			Number of cell divisions									
		0	1	2	3	4	5	6				
Gate:	NOD	2.20%	4.35%	17.80%	14.80%	25.50%	25.10%	7.41%				
Foxp3-	NOD.B6 Idd3	1.72%	4.73%	20%	14.40%	26.40%	22.60%	5.92%				

TABLE 5. CFSE dilution analysis of activated CD4⁺ T cells from NOD andNOD.B6 Idd3 mice 72h after activation.

The three tables represent the same population of activated $CD4^+$ T cells gated on either total $CD4^+$, $CD4^+Foxp3^+$ or $CD4^+Foxp3^-$ cells. Percentages shown reflect the distribution of cells at each division peak within the gated population. Values in bold highlight differences >1% between NOD and NOD.B6 *Idd3* cells for a given subset. Data representative of 3 independent experiments.

82

References

- 1. CDA, C. D. A. 2006. Things You Should Know About Type 1 Diabetes.
- 2. PHAC, P. H. A. o. C. 2003. Type 1 diabetes, <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/ccdpc-cpcmc/diabetes-diabete/english/whatis/type1.html</u>
- 3. Quick WS, O. B. D., Lane J. 2004. Diabetes Dictionary.
- 4. Gianani, R., and G. S. Eisenbarth. 2005. The stages of type 1A diabetes: 2005. *Immunol Rev* 204:232-249.
- Karvonen, M., M. Viik-Kajander, E. Moltchanova, I. Libman, R. LaPorte, and J. Tuomilehto. 2000. Incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes worldwide. Diabetes Mondiale (DiaMond) Project Group. *Diabetes Care* 23:1516-1526.
- 6. Redondo, M. J., L. Yu, M. Hawa, T. Mackenzie, D. A. Pyke, G. S. Eisenbarth, and R. D. Leslie. 2001. Heterogeneity of type I diabetes: analysis of monozygotic twins in Great Britain and the United States. *Diabetologia* 44:354-362.
- 7. Fujinami, R. S., M. G. von Herrath, U. Christen, and J. L. Whitton. 2006. Molecular mimicry, bystander activation, or viral persistence: infections and autoimmune disease. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 19:80-94.
- 8. Holick, M. F. 2005. Vitamin D: important for prevention of osteoporosis, cardiovascular heart disease, type 1 diabetes, autoimmune diseases, and some cancers. *South Med J* 98:1024-1027.
- 9. Bach, J. F. 2005. Six questions about the hygiene hypothesis. Cell Immunol 233:158-161.
- 10. Leiter, E. H., and M. von Herrath. 2004. Animal models have little to teach us about type 1 diabetes: 2. In opposition to this proposal. *Diabetologia* 47:1657-1660.
- 11. Makino, S., K. Kunimoto, Y. Muraoka, Y. Mizushima, K. Katagiri, and Y. Tochino. 1980. Breeding of a non-obese, diabetic strain of mice. *Jikken Dobutsu* 29:1-13.
- 12. Anderson, M. S., and J. A. Bluestone. 2005. The NOD mouse: a model of immune dysregulation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23:447-485.
- Wicker, L. S., J. Clark, H. I. Fraser, V. E. Garner, A. Gonzalez-Munoz, B. Healy, S. Howlett, K. Hunter, D. Rainbow, R. L. Rosa, L. J. Smink, J. A. Todd, and L. B. Peterson. 2005. Type 1 diabetes genes and pathways shared by humans and NOD mice. J Autoimmun 25 Suppl:29-33.
- 14. Kikutani, H., and S. Makino. 1992. The murine autoimmune diabetes model: NOD and related strains. *Adv Immunol* 51:285-322.
- 15. Bendelac, A., C. Carnaud, C. Boitard, and J. F. Bach. 1987. Syngeneic transfer of autoimmune diabetes from diabetic NOD mice to healthy neonates. Requirement for both L3T4+ and Lyt-2+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 166:823-832.
- 16. Janeway, C. A. T., Paul; Walport, Mark; Shlomchik, Mark. 2001. *Immunobiology*. Garland Publishing, New York and London.

- 17. Andre, I., A. Gonzalez, B. Wang, J. Katz, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 1996. Checkpoints in the progression of autoimmune disease: lessons from diabetes models. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93:2260-2263.
- 18. Finegood, D. T., L. Scaglia, and S. Bonner-Weir. 1995. Dynamics of beta-cell mass in the growing rat pancreas. Estimation with a simple mathematical model. *Diabetes* 44:249-256.
- 19. Scaglia, L., C. J. Cahill, D. T. Finegood, and S. Bonner-Weir. 1997. Apoptosis participates in the remodeling of the endocrine pancreas in the neonatal rat. *Endocrinology* 138:1736-1741.
- 20. Trudeau, J. D., J. P. Dutz, E. Arany, D. J. Hill, W. E. Fieldus, and D. T. Finegood. 2000. Neonatal beta-cell apoptosis: a trigger for autoimmune diabetes? *Diabetes* 49:1-7.
- 21. Gagnerault, M. C., J. J. Luan, C. Lotton, and F. Lepault. 2002. Pancreatic lymph nodes are required for priming of beta cell reactive T cells in NOD mice. *J Exp Med* 196:369-377.
- 22. Yadav, D., V. Judkowski, M. Flodstrom-Tullberg, L. Sterling, W. L. Redmond, L. Sherman, and N. Sarvetnick. 2004. B7-2 (CD86) controls the priming of autoreactive CD4 T cell response against pancreatic islets. *J Immunol* 173:3631-3639.
- 23. Yoon, J. W., and H. S. Jun. 2005. Autoimmune destruction of pancreatic beta cells. *Am J Ther* 12:580-591.
- 24. Bach, J. F., and D. Mathis. 1997. The NOD mouse. Res Immunol 148:285-286.
- 25. Wang, B., A. Gonzalez, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 1996. The role of CD8+ T cells in the initiation of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Immunol* 26:1762-1769.
- 26. Mathis, D., L. Vence, and C. Benoist. 2001. beta-Cell death during progression to diabetes. *Nature* 414:792-798.
- 27. Mueller, C., W. Held, M. A. Imboden, and C. Carnaud. 1995. Accelerated beta-cell destruction in adoptively transferred autoimmune diabetes correlates with an increased expression of the genes coding for TNF-alpha and granzyme A in the intra-islet infiltrates. *Diabetes* 44:112-117.
- Suk, K., S. Kim, Y. H. Kim, K. A. Kim, I. Chang, H. Yagita, M. Shong, and M. S. Lee. 2001. IFN-gamma/TNF-alpha synergism as the final effector in autoimmune diabetes: a key role for STAT1/IFN regulatory factor-1 pathway in pancreatic beta cell death. J Immunol 166:4481-4489.
- Kaneto, H., J. Fujii, H. G. Seo, K. Suzuki, T. Matsuoka, M. Nakamura, H. Tatsumi, Y. Yamasaki, T. Kamada, and N. Taniguchi. 1995. Apoptotic cell death triggered by nitric oxide in pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* 44:733-738.
- Corbett, J. A., A. Mikhael, J. Shimizu, K. Frederick, T. P. Misko, M. L. McDaniel, O. Kanagawa, and E. R. Unanue. 1993. Nitric oxide production in islets from nonobese diabetic mice: aminoguanidine-sensitive and -resistant stages in the immunological diabetic process. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:8992-8995.

- Trembleau, S., G. Penna, E. Bosi, A. Mortara, M. K. Gately, and L. Adorini. 1995. Interleukin 12 administration induces T helper type 1 cells and accelerates autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. J Exp Med 181:817-821.
- 32. Trembleau, S., G. Penna, S. Gregori, H. D. Chapman, D. V. Serreze, J. Magram, and L. Adorini. 1999. Pancreas-infiltrating Th1 cells and diabetes develop in IL-12-deficient nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* 163:2960-2968.
- 33. Debray-Sachs, M., C. Carnaud, C. Boitard, H. Cohen, I. Gresser, P. Bedossa, and J. F. Bach. 1991. Prevention of diabetes in NOD mice treated with antibody to murine IFN gamma. *J Autoimmun* 4:237-248.
- 34. Hultgren, B., X. Huang, N. Dybdal, and T. A. Stewart. 1996. Genetic absence of gammainterferon delays but does not prevent diabetes in NOD mice. *Diabetes* 45:812-817.
- 35. Yang, X. D., R. Tisch, S. M. Singer, Z. A. Cao, R. S. Liblau, R. D. Schreiber, and H. O. McDevitt. 1994. Effect of tumor necrosis factor alpha on insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in NOD mice. I. The early development of autoimmunity and the diabetogenic process. J Exp Med 180:995-1004.
- 36. Grewal, I. S., K. D. Grewal, F. S. Wong, D. E. Picarella, C. A. Janeway, Jr., and R. A. Flavell. 1996. Local expression of transgene encoded TNF alpha in islets prevents autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice by preventing the development of auto-reactive islet-specific T cells. J Exp Med 184:1963-1974.
- 37. Christen, U., T. Wolfe, U. Mohrle, A. C. Hughes, E. Rodrigo, E. A. Green, R. A. Flavell, and M. G. von Herrath. 2001. A dual role for TNF-alpha in type 1 diabetes: islet-specific expression abrogates the ongoing autoimmune process when induced late but not early during pathogenesis. *J Immunol* 166:7023-7032.
- 38. Cameron, M. J., G. A. Arreaza, P. Zucker, S. W. Chensue, R. M. Strieter, S. Chakrabarti, and T. L. Delovitch. 1997. IL-4 prevents insulitis and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic mice by potentiation of regulatory T helper-2 cell function. J Immunol 159:4686-4692.
- 39. Pennline, K. J., E. Roque-Gaffney, and M. Monahan. 1994. Recombinant human IL-10 prevents the onset of diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 71:169-175.
- Wang, B., A. Gonzalez, P. Hoglund, J. D. Katz, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 1998. Interleukin-4 deficiency does not exacerbate disease in NOD mice. *Diabetes* 47:1207-1211.
- 41. The Jackson Laboratory. 2006. Type-1 Diabetes Resource.
- 42. Mueller, R., T. Krahl, and N. Sarvetnick. 1996. Pancreatic expression of interleukin-4 abrogates insulitis and autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. *J Exp Med* 184:1093-1099.
- 43. Balasa, B., K. Van Gunst, N. Jung, D. Balakrishna, P. Santamaria, T. Hanafusa, N. Itoh, and N. Sarvetnick. 2000. Islet-specific expression of IL-10 promotes diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice independent of Fas, perforin, TNF receptor-1, and TNF receptor-2 molecules. *J Immunol* 165:2841-2849.
- 44. Bach, J. F., and L. Chatenoud. 2001. Tolerance to islet autoantigens in type 1 diabetes. Annu Rev Immunol 19:131-161.

- 45. Gerling, I. C., D. V. Serreze, S. W. Christianson, and E. H. Leiter. 1992. Intrathymic islet cell transplantation reduces beta-cell autoimmunity and prevents diabetes in NOD/Lt mice. *Diabetes* 41:1672-1676.
- 46. Charlton, B., C. Taylor-Edwards, R. Tisch, and C. G. Fathman. 1994. Prevention of diabetes and insulitis by neonatal intrathymic islet administration in NOD mice. *J* Autoimmun 7:549-560.
- 47. Koevary, S. B., and M. Blomberg. 1992. Prevention of diabetes in BB/Wor rats by intrathymic islet injection. *J Clin Invest* 89:512-516.
- 48. Nomura, Y., E. Stein, and Y. Mullen. 1993. Prevention of overt diabetes and insulitis by intrathymic injection of syngeneic islets in newborn nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. *Transplantation* 56:638-642.
- 49. Kishimoto, H., and J. Sprent. 2001. A defect in central tolerance in NOD mice. *Nat Immunol* 2:1025-1031.
- 50. Kanagawa, O., S. M. Martin, B. A. Vaupel, E. Carrasco-Marin, and E. R. Unanue. 1998. Autoreactivity of T cells from nonobese diabetic mice: an I-Ag7-dependent reaction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:1721-1724.
- 51. Ridgway, W. M., M. Fasso, and C. G. Fathman. 1999. A new look at MHC and autoimmune disease. *Science* 284:749, 751.
- 52. Moriyama, H., N. Abiru, J. Paronen, K. Sikora, E. Liu, D. Miao, D. Devendra, J. Beilke, R. Gianani, R. G. Gill, and G. S. Eisenbarth. 2003. Evidence for a primary islet autoantigen (preproinsulin 1) for insulitis and diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100:10376-10381.
- 53. Thebault-Baumont, K., D. Dubois-Laforgue, P. Krief, J. P. Briand, P. Halbout, K. Vallon-Geoffroy, J. Morin, V. Laloux, A. Lehuen, J. C. Carel, J. Jami, S. Muller, and C. Boitard. 2003. Acceleration of type 1 diabetes mellitus in proinsulin 2-deficient NOD mice. J Clin Invest 111:851-857.
- 54. Zuklys, S., G. Balciunaite, A. Agarwal, E. Fasler-Kan, E. Palmer, and G. A. Hollander. 2000. Normal thymic architecture and negative selection are associated with Aire expression, the gene defective in the autoimmune-polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy (APECED). *J Immunol* 165:1976-1983.
- 55. Pugliese, A., M. Zeller, A. Fernandez, Jr., L. J. Zalcberg, R. J. Bartlett, C. Ricordi, M. Pietropaolo, G. S. Eisenbarth, S. T. Bennett, and D. D. Patel. 1997. The insulin gene is transcribed in the human thymus and transcription levels correlated with allelic variation at the INS VNTR-IDDM2 susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes. *Nat Genet* 15:293-297.
- 56. Lieberman, S. M., A. M. Evans, B. Han, T. Takaki, Y. Vinnitskaya, J. A. Caldwell, D. V. Serreze, J. Shabanowitz, D. F. Hunt, S. G. Nathenson, P. Santamaria, and T. P. DiLorenzo. 2003. Identification of the beta cell antigen targeted by a prevalent population of pathogenic CD8+ T cells in autoimmune diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100:8384-8388.
- 57. Dai, Y. D., K. P. Jensen, A. Lehuen, E. L. Masteller, J. A. Bluestone, D. B. Wilson, and E. E. Sercarz. 2005. A peptide of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 can recruit and expand a diabetogenic T cell clone, BDC2.5, in the pancreas. *J Immunol* 175:3621-3627.

- 58. Trudeau, J. D., C. Kelly-Smith, C. B. Verchere, J. F. Elliott, J. P. Dutz, D. T. Finegood, P. Santamaria, and R. Tan. 2003. Prediction of spontaneous autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice by quantification of autoreactive T cells in peripheral blood. J Clin Invest 111:217-223.
- Masteller, E. L., M. R. Warner, Q. Tang, K. V. Tarbell, H. McDevitt, and J. A. Bluestone. 2005. Expansion of functional endogenous antigen-specific CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells from nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* 175:3053-3059.
- Walunas, T. L., D. J. Lenschow, C. Y. Bakker, P. S. Linsley, G. J. Freeman, J. M. Green, C. B. Thompson, and J. A. Bluestone. 1994. CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. *Immunity* 1:405-413.
- 61. Colucci, F., M. L. Bergman, C. Penha-Goncalves, C. M. Cilio, and D. Holmberg. 1997. Apoptosis resistance of nonobese diabetic peripheral lymphocytes linked to the Idd5 diabetes susceptibility region. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94:8670-8674.
- 62. Luhder, F., P. Hoglund, J. P. Allison, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 1998. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) regulates the unfolding of autoimmune diabetes. *J Exp Med* 187:427-432.
- 63. Ansari, M. J., A. D. Salama, T. Chitnis, R. N. Smith, H. Yagita, H. Akiba, T. Yamazaki, M. Azuma, H. Iwai, S. J. Khoury, H. Auchincloss, Jr., and M. H. Sayegh. 2003. The programmed death-1 (PD-1) pathway regulates autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. J Exp Med 198:63-69.
- Clare-Salzler, M. J., J. Brooks, A. Chai, K. Van Herle, and C. Anderson. 1992. Prevention of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice by dendritic cell transfer. *J Clin Invest* 90:741-748.
- 65. Langmuir, P. B., M. M. Bridgett, A. L. Bothwell, and I. N. Crispe. 1993. Bone marrow abnormalities in the non-obese diabetic mouse. *Int Immunol* 5:169-177.
- 66. Takahashi, K., M. C. Honeyman, and L. C. Harrison. 1998. Impaired yield, phenotype, and function of monocyte-derived dendritic cells in humans at risk for insulin-dependent diabetes. *J Immunol* 161:2629-2635.
- 67. Nikolic, T., M. Bunk, H. A. Drexhage, and P. J. Leenen. 2004. Bone marrow precursors of nonobese diabetic mice develop into defective macrophage-like dendritic cells in vitro. *J Immunol* 173:4342-4351.
- 68. Lund, T., and J. Strid. 2000. Is lack of peripheral tolerance induction a cause for diabetes in the non-obese diabetic mouse? *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 48:405-416.
- 69. Schweitzer, A. N., and A. H. Sharpe. 1998. Studies using antigen-presenting cells lacking expression of both B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) show distinct requirements for B7 molecules during priming versus restimulation of Th2 but not Th1 cytokine production. J Immunol 161:2762-2771.
- 70. Rulifson, I. C., A. I. Sperling, P. E. Fields, F. W. Fitch, and J. A. Bluestone. 1997. CD28 costimulation promotes the production of Th2 cytokines. *J Immunol* 158:658-665.
- Lissy, N. A., L. F. Van Dyk, M. Becker-Hapak, A. Vocero-Akbani, J. H. Mendler, and S. F. Dowdy. 1998. TCR antigen-induced cell death occurs from a late G1 phase cell cycle check point. *Immunity* 8:57-65.

- 72. Radvanyi, L. G., Y. Shi, G. B. Mills, and R. G. Miller. 1996. Cell cycle progression out of G1 sensitizes primary-cultured nontransformed T cells to TCR-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Immunol* 170:260-273.
- Lenardo, M., K. M. Chan, F. Hornung, H. McFarland, R. Siegel, J. Wang, and L. Zheng. 1999. Mature T lymphocyte apoptosis--immune regulation in a dynamic and unpredictable antigenic environment. *Annu Rev Immunol* 17:221-253.
- Decallonne, B., and C. Mathieu. 2003. Defective activation-induced cell death in NOD T lymphocytes: 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 restores defect. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1005:176-177.
- 75. Decallonne, B., E. van Etten, A. Giulietti, K. Casteels, L. Overbergh, R. Bouillon, and C. Mathieu. 2003. Defect in activation-induced cell death in non-obese diabetic (NOD) T lymphocytes. J Autoimmun 20:219-226.
- 76. Yang, W., S. Hussain, Q. S. Mi, P. Santamaria, and T. L. Delovitch. 2004. Perturbed homeostasis of peripheral T cells elicits decreased susceptibility to anti-CD3-induced apoptosis in prediabetic nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* 173:4407-4416.
- 77. Wicker, L. S., B. J. Miller, and Y. Mullen. 1986. Transfer of autoimmune diabetes mellitus with splenocytes from nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. *Diabetes* 35:855-860.
- 78. Boitard, C., R. Yasunami, M. Dardenne, and J. F. Bach. 1989. T cell-mediated inhibition of the transfer of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. *J Exp Med* 169:1669-1680.
- 79. Sempe, P., M. F. Richard, J. F. Bach, and C. Boitard. 1994. Evidence of CD4+ regulatory T cells in the non-obese diabetic male mouse. *Diabetologia* 37:337-343.
- 80. Hutchings, P. R., and A. Cooke. 1990. The transfer of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice can be inhibited or accelerated by distinct cell populations present in normal splenocytes taken from young males. *J Autoimmun* 3:175-185.
- 81. Dardenne, M., F. Lepault, A. Bendelac, and J. F. Bach. 1989. Acceleration of the onset of diabetes in NOD mice by thymectomy at weaning. *Eur J Immunol* 19:889-895.
- 82. Charlton, B., A. Bacelj, R. M. Slattery, and T. E. Mandel. 1989. Cyclophosphamideinduced diabetes in NOD/WEHI mice. Evidence for suppression in spontaneous autoimmune diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes* 38:441-447.
- 83. Yasunami, R., and J. F. Bach. 1988. Anti-suppressor effect of cyclophosphamide on the development of spontaneous diabetes in NOD mice. *Eur J Immunol* 18:481-484.
- 84. Ablamunits, V., F. Quintana, T. Reshef, D. Elias, and I. R. Cohen. 1999. Acceleration of autoimmune diabetes by cyclophosphamide is associated with an enhanced IFN-gamma secretion pathway. *J Autoimmun* 13:383-392.
- 85. Matos, M., R. Park, D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2004. Progression to islet destruction in a cyclophosphamide-induced transgenic model: a microarray overview. *Diabetes* 53:2310-2321.
- 86. Chatenoud, L., E. Thervet, J. Primo, and J. F. Bach. 1994. Anti-CD3 antibody induces long-term remission of overt autoimmunity in nonobese diabetic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:123-127.

- 87. Chatenoud, L., J. Primo, and J. F. Bach. 1997. CD3 antibody-induced dominant self tolerance in overtly diabetic NOD mice. *J Immunol* 158:2947-2954.
- Belghith, M., J. A. Bluestone, S. Barriot, J. Megret, J. F. Bach, and L. Chatenoud. 2003. TGF-beta-dependent mechanisms mediate restoration of self-tolerance induced by antibodies to CD3 in overt autoimmune diabetes. *Nat Med* 9:1202-1208.
- 89. Beissert, S., A. Schwarz, and T. Schwarz. 2006. Regulatory T cells. *J Invest Dermatol* 126:15-24.
- 90. Thornton, A. M., and E. M. Shevach. 1998. CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells suppress polyclonal T cell activation in vitro by inhibiting interleukin 2 production. J Exp Med 188:287-296.
- 91. Piccirillo, C. A., and E. M. Shevach. 2001. Cutting edge: control of CD8+ T cell activation by CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory cells. *J Immunol* 167:1137-1140.
- 92. Thornton, A. M., and E. M. Shevach. 2000. Suppressor effector function of CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells is antigen nonspecific. *J Immunol* 164:183-190.
- 93. Green, E. A., L. Gorelik, C. M. McGregor, E. H. Tran, and R. A. Flavell. 2003.
 CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells control anti-islet CD8+ T cells through TGF-beta-TGFbeta receptor interactions in type 1 diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100:10878-10883.
- 94. Belkaid, Y., C. A. Piccirillo, S. Mendez, E. M. Shevach, and D. L. Sacks. 2002. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells control Leishmania major persistence and immunity. *Nature* 420:502-507.
- 95. Kearley, J., J. E. Barker, D. S. Robinson, and C. M. Lloyd. 2005. Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after in vivo transfer of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent. *J Exp Med* 202:1539-1547.
- 96. Lim, H. W., P. Hillsamer, A. H. Banham, and C. H. Kim. 2005. Cutting edge: direct suppression of B cells by CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 175:4180-4183.
- 97. Veldhoen, M., H. Moncrieffe, R. J. Hocking, C. J. Atkins, and B. Stockinger. 2006. Modulation of dendritic cell function by naive and regulatory CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* 176:6202-6210.
- 98. Gershon, R. K., P. Cohen, R. Hencin, and S. A. Liebhaber. 1972. Suppressor T cells. J Immunol 108:586-590.
- 99. Sakaguchi, S., N. Sakaguchi, M. Asano, M. Itoh, and M. Toda. 1995. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. J Immunol 155:1151-1164.
- 100. Gaffen, S. L. 2001. Signaling domains of the interleukin 2 receptor. *Cytokine* 14:63-77.
- 101. Kuniyasu, Y., T. Takahashi, M. Itoh, J. Shimizu, G. Toda, and S. Sakaguchi. 2000. Naturally anergic and suppressive CD25(+)CD4(+) T cells as a functionally and phenotypically distinct immunoregulatory T cell subpopulation. *Int Immunol* 12:1145-1155.

- 102. Alyanakian, M. A., S. You, D. Damotte, C. Gouarin, A. Esling, C. Garcia, S. Havouis, L. Chatenoud, and J. F. Bach. 2003. Diversity of regulatory CD4+T cells controlling distinct organ-specific autoimmune diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100:15806-15811.
- 103. Fontenot, J. D., M. A. Gavin, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2003. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 4:330-336.
- 104. Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi. 2003. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* 299:1057-1061.
- 105. Khattri, R., T. Cox, S. A. Yasayko, and F. Ramsdell. 2003. An essential role for Scurfin in CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. *Nat Immunol* 4:337-342.
- 106. Walker, M. R., D. J. Kasprowicz, V. H. Gersuk, A. Benard, M. Van Landeghen, J. H. Buckner, and S. F. Ziegler. 2003. Induction of FoxP3 and acquisition of T regulatory activity by stimulated human CD4+CD25-T cells. *J Clin Invest* 112:1437-1443.
- 107. Ziegler, S. F. 2006. FOXP3: of mice and men. Annu Rev Immunol 24:209-226.
- 108. Clark, L. B., M. W. Appleby, M. E. Brunkow, J. E. Wilkinson, S. F. Ziegler, and F. Ramsdell. 1999. Cellular and molecular characterization of the scurfy mouse mutant. J Immunol 162:2546-2554.
- 109. Fontenot, J. D., J. P. Rasmussen, L. M. Williams, J. L. Dooley, A. G. Farr, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2005. Regulatory T cell lineage specification by the forkhead transcription factor foxp3. *Immunity* 22:329-341.
- Nishioka, T., J. Shimizu, R. Iida, S. Yamazaki, and S. Sakaguchi. 2006. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells and CD4+CD25-Foxp3+ T cells in aged mice. *J Immunol* 176:6586-6593.
- 111. Zelenay, S., T. Lopes-Carvalho, I. Caramalho, M. F. Moraes-Fontes, M. Rebelo, and J. Demengeot. 2005. Foxp3+ CD25- CD4 T cells constitute a reservoir of committed regulatory cells that regain CD25 expression upon homeostatic expansion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:4091-4096.
- 112. Yagi, H., T. Nomura, K. Nakamura, S. Yamazaki, T. Kitawaki, S. Hori, M. Maeda, M. Onodera, T. Uchiyama, S. Fujii, and S. Sakaguchi. 2004. Crucial role of FOXP3 in the development and function of human CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells. *Int Immunol* 16:1643-1656.
- 113. Suri-Payer, E., A. Z. Amar, A. M. Thornton, and E. M. Shevach. 1998. CD4+CD25+T cells inhibit both the induction and effector function of autoreactive T cells and represent a unique lineage of immunoregulatory cells. *J Immunol* 160:1212-1218.
- 114. Itoh, M., T. Takahashi, N. Sakaguchi, Y. Kuniyasu, J. Shimizu, F. Otsuka, and S. Sakaguchi. 1999. Thymus and autoimmunity: production of CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells as a key function of the thymus in maintaining immunologic self-tolerance. J Immunol 162:5317-5326.
- 115. Asano, M., M. Toda, N. Sakaguchi, and S. Sakaguchi. 1996. Autoimmune disease as a consequence of developmental abnormality of a T cell subpopulation. *J Exp Med* 184:387-396.

- 116. Fontenot, J. D., J. L. Dooley, A. G. Farr, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2005. Developmental regulation of Foxp3 expression during ontogeny. *J Exp Med* 202:901-906.
- 117. Romagnoli, P., D. Hudrisier, and J. P. van Meerwijk. 2002. Preferential recognition of self antigens despite normal thymic deletion of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells. J Immunol 168:1644-1648.
- 118. Jordan, M. S., A. Boesteanu, A. J. Reed, A. L. Petrone, A. E. Holenbeck, M. A. Lerman, A. Naji, and A. J. Caton. 2001. Thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by an agonist self-peptide. *Nat Immunol* 2:301-306.
- 119. Hsieh, C. S., Y. Zheng, Y. Liang, J. D. Fontenot, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2006. An intersection between the self-reactive regulatory and nonregulatory T cell receptor repertoires. *Nat Immunol* 7:401-410.
- 120. Tai, X., M. Cowan, L. Feigenbaum, and A. Singer. 2005. CD28 costimulation of developing thymocytes induces Foxp3 expression and regulatory T cell differentiation independently of interleukin 2. *Nat Immunol* 6:152-162.
- 121. Thomas, R. M., L. Gao, and A. D. Wells. 2005. Signals from CD28 induce stable epigenetic modification of the IL-2 promoter. *J Immunol* 174:4639-4646.
- 122. Geginat, J., B. Clissi, M. Moro, P. Dellabona, J. R. Bender, and R. Pardi. 2000. CD28 and LFA-1 contribute to cyclosporin A-resistant T cell growth by stabilizing the IL-2 mRNA through distinct signaling pathways. *Eur J Immunol* 30:1136-1144.
- D'Cruz, L. M., and L. Klein. 2005. Development and function of agonist-induced CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the absence of interleukin 2 signaling. *Nat Immunol* 6:1152-1159.
- 124. Fontenot, J. D., J. P. Rasmussen, M. A. Gavin, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2005. A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 6:1142-1151.
- Asao, H., C. Okuyama, S. Kumaki, N. Ishii, S. Tsuchiya, D. Foster, and K. Sugamura.
 2001. Cutting edge: the common gamma-chain is an indispensable subunit of the IL-21 receptor complex. *J Immunol* 167:1-5.
- 126. Su, L., R. J. Creusot, E. M. Gallo, S. M. Chan, P. J. Utz, C. G. Fathman, and J. Ermann. 2004. Murine CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells fail to undergo chromatin remodeling across the proximal promoter region of the IL-2 gene. *J Immunol* 173:4994-5001.
- 127. Setoguchi, R., S. Hori, T. Takahashi, and S. Sakaguchi. 2005. Homeostatic maintenance of natural Foxp3(+) CD25(+) CD4(+) regulatory T cells by interleukin (IL)-2 and induction of autoimmune disease by IL-2 neutralization. J Exp Med 201:723-735.
- 128. Granucci, F., C. Vizzardelli, N. Pavelka, S. Feau, M. Persico, E. Virzi, M. Rescigno, G. Moro, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli. 2001. Inducible IL-2 production by dendritic cells revealed by global gene expression analysis. *Nat Immunol* 2:882-888.
- 129. Nelson, B. H. 2004. IL-2, regulatory T cells, and tolerance. *J Immunol* 172:3983-3988.
- 130. Snow, J. W., N. Abraham, M. C. Ma, B. G. Herndier, A. W. Pastuszak, and M. A. Goldsmith. 2003. Loss of tolerance and autoimmunity affecting multiple organs in STAT5A/5B-deficient mice. *J Immunol* 171:5042-5050.

- 131. Malek, T. R., A. Yu, V. Vincek, P. Scibelli, and L. Kong. 2002. CD4 regulatory T cells prevent lethal autoimmunity in IL-2Rbeta-deficient mice. Implications for the nonredundant function of IL-2. *Immunity* 17:167-178.
- 132. Bayer, A. L., A. Yu, D. Adeegbe, and T. R. Malek. 2005. Essential role for interleukin-2 for CD4(+)CD25(+) T regulatory cell development during the neonatal period. *J Exp Med* 201:769-777.
- 133. Burchill, M. A., C. A. Goetz, M. Prlic, J. J. O'Neil, I. R. Harmon, S. J. Bensinger, L. A. Turka, P. Brennan, S. C. Jameson, and M. A. Farrar. 2003. Distinct effects of STAT5 activation on CD4+ and CD8+ T cell homeostasis: development of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells versus CD8+ memory T cells. J Immunol 171:5853-5864.
- 134. Thornton, A. M., E. E. Donovan, C. A. Piccirillo, and E. M. Shevach. 2004. Cutting Edge: IL-2 Is Critically Required for the In Vitro Activation of CD4+CD25+ T Cell Suppressor Function. J Immunol 172:6519-6523.
- 135. Antony, P. A., C. M. Paulos, M. Ahmadzadeh, A. Akpinarli, D. C. Palmer, N. Sato, A. Kaiser, C. S. Hinrichs, C. A. Klebanoff, Y. Tagaya, and N. P. Restifo. 2006. Interleukin-2-dependent mechanisms of tolerance and immunity in vivo. *J Immunol* 176:5255-5266.
- Eicher, D. M., and T. A. Waldmann. 1998. IL-2R alpha on one cell can present IL-2 to IL-2R beta/gamma(c) on another cell to augment IL-2 signaling. *J Immunol* 161:5430-5437.
- 137. Tang, Q., K. J. Henriksen, E. K. Boden, A. J. Tooley, J. Ye, S. K. Subudhi, X. X. Zheng, T. B. Strom, and J. A. Bluestone. 2003. Cutting edge: CD28 controls peripheral homeostasis of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 171:3348-3352.
- 138. Sansom, D. M., and L. S. Walker. 2006. The role of CD28 and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) in regulatory T-cell biology. *Immunol Rev* 212:131-148.
- 139. Thornton, A. M., C. A. Piccirillo, and E. M. Shevach. 2004. Activation requirements for the induction of CD4+CD25+ T cell suppressor function. *Eur J Immunol* 34:366-376.
- 140. Yamazaki, S., T. Iyoda, K. Tarbell, K. Olson, K. Velinzon, K. Inaba, and R. M. Steinman. 2003. Direct expansion of functional CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells by antigen-processing dendritic cells. J Exp Med 198:235-247.
- 141. Fehervari, Z., and S. Sakaguchi. 2004. Control of Foxp3+ CD25+CD4+ regulatory cell activation and function by dendritic cells. *Int Immunol* 16:1769-1780.
- 142. Lepault, F., and M. C. Gagnerault. 2000. Characterization of peripheral regulatory CD4+ T cells that prevent diabetes onset in nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* 164:240-247.
- 143. Salomon, B., D. J. Lenschow, L. Rhee, N. Ashourian, B. Singh, A. Sharpe, and J. A. Bluestone. 2000. B7/CD28 costimulation is essential for the homeostasis of the CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells that control autoimmune diabetes. *Immunity* 12:431-440.
- 144. Szanya, V., J. Ermann, C. Taylor, C. Holness, and C. G. Fathman. 2002. The subpopulation of CD4+CD25+ splenocytes that delays adoptive transfer of diabetes expresses L-selectin and high levels of CCR7. *J Immunol* 169:2461-2465.

- 145. Tang, Q., K. J. Henriksen, M. Bi, E. B. Finger, G. Szot, J. Ye, E. L. Masteller, H. McDevitt, M. Bonyhadi, and J. A. Bluestone. 2004. In vitro-expanded antigen-specific regulatory T cells suppress autoimmune diabetes. *J Exp Med* 199:1455-1465.
- 146. von Herrath, M. G., and L. C. Harrison. 2003. Antigen-induced regulatory T cells in autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:223-232.
- 147. Hoglund, P., J. Mintern, C. Waltzinger, W. Heath, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 1999. Initiation of autoimmune diabetes by developmentally regulated presentation of islet cell antigens in the pancreatic lymph nodes. J Exp Med 189:331-339.
- Herman, A. E., G. J. Freeman, D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2004. CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells dependent on ICOS promote regulation of effector cells in the prediabetic lesion. J Exp Med 199:1479-1489.
- 149. Chen, Z., A. E. Herman, M. Matos, D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2005. Where CD4+CD25+ T reg cells impinge on autoimmune diabetes. *J Exp Med* 202:1387-1397.
- 150. Peng, Y., Y. Laouar, M. O. Li, E. A. Green, and R. A. Flavell. 2004. TGF-beta regulates in vivo expansion of Foxp3-expressing CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells responsible for protection against diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:4572-4577.
- 151. Fantini, M. C., C. Becker, G. Monteleone, F. Pallone, P. R. Galle, and M. F. Neurath. 2004. Cutting edge: TGF-beta induces a regulatory phenotype in CD4+CD25- T cells through Foxp3 induction and down-regulation of Smad7. *J Immunol* 172:5149-5153.
- 152. Gregori, S., N. Giarratana, S. Smiroldo, and L. Adorini. 2003. Dynamics of pathogenic and suppressor T cells in autoimmune diabetes development. *J Immunol* 171:4040-4047.
- 153. Berzins, S. P., E. S. Venanzi, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 2003. T-cell compartments of prediabetic NOD mice. *Diabetes* 52:327-334.
- 154. Pop, S. M., C. P. Wong, D. A. Culton, S. H. Clarke, and R. Tisch. 2005. Single cell analysis shows decreasing FoxP3 and TGFbeta1 coexpressing CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells during autoimmune diabetes. *J Exp Med* 201:1333-1346.
- 155. You, S., M. Belghith, S. Cobbold, M. A. Alyanakian, C. Gouarin, S. Barriot, C. Garcia, H. Waldmann, J. F. Bach, and L. Chatenoud. 2005. Autoimmune diabetes onset results from qualitative rather than quantitative age-dependent changes in pathogenic T-cells. *Diabetes* 54:1415-1422.
- 156. Zipris, D., A. H. Lazarus, A. R. Crow, M. Hadzija, and T. L. Delovitch. 1991. Defective thymic T cell activation by concanavalin A and anti-CD3 in autoimmune nonobese diabetic mice. Evidence for thymic T cell anergy that correlates with the onset of insulitis. *J Immunol* 146:3763-3771.
- 157. Rapoport, M. J., A. Jaramillo, D. Zipris, A. H. Lazarus, D. V. Serreze, E. H. Leiter, P. Cyopick, J. S. Danska, and T. L. Delovitch. 1993. Interleukin 4 reverses T cell proliferative unresponsiveness and prevents the onset of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. J Exp Med 178:87-99.
- 158. Taconic. 2006. Taconic Emrging Models Program.
- 159. Wicker, L. S., J. A. Todd, J. B. Prins, P. L. Podolin, R. J. Renjilian, and L. B. Peterson. 1994. Resistance alleles at two non-major histocompatibility complex-linked insulin-

dependent diabetes loci on chromosome 3, Idd3 and Idd10, protect nonobese diabetic mice from diabetes. *J Exp Med* 180:1705-1713.

- 160. Lyons, P. A., N. Armitage, F. Argentina, P. Denny, N. J. Hill, C. J. Lord, M. B. Wilusz, L. B. Peterson, L. S. Wicker, and J. A. Todd. 2000. Congenic mapping of the type 1 diabetes locus, Idd3, to a 780-kb region of mouse chromosome 3: identification of a candidate segment of ancestral DNA by haplotype mapping. *Genome Res* 10:446-453.
- 161. King, C., A. Ilic, K. Koelsch, and N. Sarvetnick. 2004. Homeostatic expansion of T cells during immune insufficiency generates autoimmunity. *Cell* 117:265-277.
- 162. Gleeson, P. A., B. H. Toh, and I. R. van Driel. 1996. Organ-specific autoimmunity induced by lymphopenia. *Immunol Rev* 149:97-125.
- 163. Podolin, P. L., M. B. Wilusz, R. M. Cubbon, U. Pajvani, C. J. Lord, J. A. Todd, L. B. Peterson, L. S. Wicker, and P. A. Lyons. 2000. Differential glycosylation of interleukin 2, the molecular basis for the NOD Idd3 type 1 diabetes gene? *Cytokine* 12:477-482.
- 164. Markees, T. G., D. V. Serreze, N. E. Phillips, C. H. Sorli, E. J. Gordon, L. D. Shultz, R. J. Noelle, B. A. Woda, D. L. Greiner, J. P. Mordes, and A. A. Rossini. 1999. NOD mice have a generalized defect in their response to transplantation tolerance induction. *Diabetes* 48:967-974.
- 165. Pearson, T., P. Weiser, T. G. Markees, D. V. Serreze, L. S. Wicker, L. B. Peterson, A. M. Cumisky, L. D. Shultz, J. P. Mordes, A. A. Rossini, and D. L. Greiner. 2004. Islet allograft survival induced by costimulation blockade in NOD mice is controlled by allelic variants of Idd3. *Diabetes* 53:1972-1978.
- 166. Vella, A., J. D. Cooper, C. E. Lowe, N. Walker, S. Nutland, B. Widmer, R. Jones, S. M. Ring, W. McArdle, M. E. Pembrey, D. P. Strachan, D. B. Dunger, R. C. Twells, D. G. Clayton, and J. A. Todd. 2005. Localization of a type 1 diabetes locus in the IL2RA/CD25 region by use of tag single-nucleotide polymorphisms. *Am J Hum Genet* 76:773-779.
- 167. Denny, P., C. J. Lord, N. J. Hill, J. V. Goy, E. R. Levy, P. L. Podolin, L. B. Peterson, L. S. Wicker, J. A. Todd, and P. A. Lyons. 1997. Mapping of the IDDM locus Idd3 to a 0.35-cM interval containing the interleukin-2 gene. *Diabetes* 46:695-700.
- 168. Martinez, X., H. T. Kreuwel, W. L. Redmond, R. Trenney, K. Hunter, H. Rosen, N. Sarvetnick, L. S. Wicker, and L. A. Sherman. 2005. CD8+ T cell tolerance in nonobese diabetic mice is restored by insulin-dependent diabetes resistance alleles. *J Immunol* 175:1677-1685.
- 169. Wicker, L. S., J. A. Todd, and L. B. Peterson. 1995. Genetic control of autoimmune diabetes in the NOD mouse. *Annu Rev Immunol* 13:179-200.
- 170. Rogner, U. C., F. Lepault, M. C. Gagnerault, D. Vallois, J. Morin, P. Avner, and C. Boitard. 2006. The diabetes type 1 locus Idd6 modulates activity of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cells. *Diabetes* 55:186-192.
- 171. Maier, L. M., and L. S. Wicker. 2005. Genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes. Curr Opin Immunol 17:601-608.

-

 \sim

APPENDIX